
 
LEMOORE PLANNING COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting 
AGENDA 

Lemoore Council Chamber 
429 ‘C’ Street 

 
October 9, 2023 

5:30 p.m. 
 

 
 

1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT – Public comment will be in accordance with the attached policy. This time is 
reserved for members of the audience to address the Planning Commission on items of interest that are not on 
the Agenda and are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Commission. It is recommended that speakers limit 
their comments to three (3) minutes each and it is requested that no comments be made during this period on 
items on the Agenda. The Commission is prohibited by law from taking any action on matters discussed that are 
not on the Agenda. Prior to addressing the Commission, any handouts for Commission will be provided to the 
Commission Secretary for distribution to the Commission and appropriate staff. The public will have an opportunity 
to comment on items on the agenda once the item has been called and the Chair opens the item to the public.  

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – Regular Meeting, September 11, 2023 

5. REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION – A request by Master Storage 365 (Richard Torosian, 
Partner) to extend the approval of Major Site Plan Review No. 021-051-012 and 021-051-
013).  The Project is Categorically Exempt form the requirements of he California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per Class 32 (Infill Development) Section 15332. 

6. PUBLIC HEARING – Consideration of  Resolution No. 2023-14, approving Amendment to 
Conditional Use Permit No. 2022-01, Amendment to Administrative Use Permit No.’s 2022-
01 and 2022-02, and Modification of Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01; and Consideration 
of Resolution No. 2023-15 approving Tentative Parcel Map 2023-01: A request by Bottom 
Line Development (Orlando Ramirez, Agent) to construct a convenience store with off-sale 
alcohol sales and drive through food service, a fueling station; and a car wash facility with a 
washing tunnel and self-service vacuum area. The request also proposes dividing the site into 
two parcels. The site is located at 1224 W. Bush Street, on the southwest corner of Bush 
Street and 19th Avenue, in the City of Lemoore (APN 023-420-018).  The project is 
Categorically Exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) per Section 15332 (Class 32 – Infill-Development Projects). 

7. DIRECTOR’S REPORT  

8. COMMISSION REPORTS / REQUESTS  

9. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
Upcoming Meetings 
Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission, November 13, 2023 
 
 



Agendas for all City Council meetings are posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at the Council Chamber, 429 C 
Street and the Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive. Written communications from the public for the 
agenda must be received by the City Clerk’s Office no less than seven (7) days prior to the meeting date. The City of 
Lemoore complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA of 1990). The Council Chamber is accessible to the 
physically disabled. Should you need special assistance, please call (559) 924-6744, at least 4 business days prior to 
the meeting. 
 
 

 
CERTIFICATION OF POSTING 

 
I, Kristie Baley, Planning Commission Secretary for the City of Lemoore, do hereby declare that I 
posted the above Planning Commission Agenda for the Regular Meeting of Monday, October 9, 
2023 at Council Chamber, 429 C Street and Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon 
Drive, Lemoore CA on October 6, 2023. 
 
  //s//  
 Kristie Baley, Commission Secretary  



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING 
October 9 @ 5:30 p.m.  

The Planning Commission will hold its public meetings in person, with a virtual option for public 
participation based on availability. The City of Lemoore utilizes Zoom teleconferencing 
technology for virtual public participation; however, the City makes no representation or warranty 
of any kind, regarding the adequacy, reliability, or availability of the use of this platform in this 
manner. Participation by members of the public through this means is at their own risk.  (Zoom 
teleconferencing/attendance may not be available at all meetings.)  
The meeting may be viewed through the following Zoom Meeting: 
• Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
• https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88948528293?pwd=YfcndybnD0HyUaabPi8FAmv5Ivavhv.1 
• Meeting ID: 889 4852 8293 
• Passcode: 534940 
• Phone: +1 669 900 6833 
 
If you wish to make a general public comment or public comment on a particular item on the 
agenda, participants may do so via Zoom during the meeting or by submitting public 
comments by e-mail to: planning@lemoore.com.  In the subject line of the e-mail, please state 
your name and the item you are commenting on.  If you wish to submit a public comment on more 
than one agenda item, please send a separate e-email for each item you are commenting on.  Please 
be aware that written public comments, including your name, may become public information. 
Additional requirements for submitting public comments by e-mail are provided below.  
 
General Public Comments & Comments on City Council Business Items 
For general public comments and comments regarding specific Planning Commission Business 
Items, public comments can be made via Zoom during the meeting or all public comments must 
be received by e-mail no later than 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments received by this 
time will be read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such 
comments may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion 
of your comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  
If a general public comment or comment on a business item is received after 5:00 p.m., efforts will 
be made to read your comment into the record.  However, staff cannot guarantee that written 
comments received after 5:00 p.m. will be read.  All written comments that are not read into the 
record will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comments are received prior 
to the end of the Planning Commission meeting. 
 
Public Hearings 
For public comment on a public hearing, all public comments must be received by the close of the 
public hearing period.  All comments received by the close of the public hearing period will be 
read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such comments 
may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion of your 
comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  If a 
comment on a public hearing item is received after the close of the public hearing, such comment 
will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comment is received prior to the end 
of the meeting. 
*PLEASE BE AWARE THAT ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS RECEIVED THAT DO NOT SPECIFY A PARTICULAR 
AGENDA ITEM WILL BE READ ALOUD DURING THE GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT PORTION OF THE AGENDA.* 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88948528293?pwd=YfcndybnD0HyUaabPi8FAmv5Ivavhv.1


   
 

 1 

Minutes of the 
LEMOORE PLANNING COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting  
September 11, 2023 

 
 
ITEM NO. 1 Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 
ITEM NO. 2 Call to Order and Roll Call 
 
The meeting was called to order at 5:33 PM. 

Chair: Mitchell Couch  
Vice-Chair Ray Etchegoin 
Commissioners: Joseph Brewer, Bob Clement, Ron Meade 

 
City Staff and Contract Employees Present: City Manager Nathan Olson, City Planner Steve 
Brandt (QK), City Attorney Crystal Pizano (Lozano Smith), Commission Secretary Kristie Baley 
 
 
ITEM NO. 3 Public Comment 
 
There was no comment. 
 
 
ITEM NO. 4   Approval - Minutes – Regular Meeting, August 14, 2023 
 
Motion by Commissioner Clement, seconded by Commissioner Meade, to approve the Minutes 
of the Planning Commission Regular Meeting of August 14, 2023. 

 
Ayes: Clement, Meade, Brewer, Etchegoin, Couch 
 
 
ITEM NO. 5   Report and Recommendation – A request by Lennar Homes of California, Inc. to 
extend approval of Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 2017-01, Reverie Tract 920 and 
accompanying Planning Entitlements for One Year (APN: 021-570-001 and 021-560-001). 

Chair Couch requested a motion to add a subsequent action item. 

Motion by Commissioner Etchegoin, seconded by Commissioner Brewer, to add a subsequent 
action item. 
 
Ayes:  Etchegoin, Brewer, Clement, Meade, Couch 
 
City Planner Brandt presented the staff report and answered questions.   
 
Chair Couch opened the public hearing at 6:00 p.m. 
 



   
 

 2 

Adrienne Burnes, Vice President of Land Development representing Wathen Castanos 
Homes, provided information and answered questions. 
 
There was no other comment from the public. 
 
Chair Couch closed the public hearing at 6:17 p.m. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Etchegoin, seconded by Commissioner Brewer, to adopt Resolution No. 
2023-13, recommending approval of Tentative Subdivision Map Tract 939, Major Site Plan Review 
2022-02, and Planned Unit Development No. 2022-01 and accompanying Planning entitlements in 
accordance with the findings and conditions as revised in the resolution. 

Condition No. 17 revised as follows:  The park shall be constructed and opened to the public for 
use prior to issuance of final occupancy permit on the 50th home in Phase 1, not including model 
homes.  

Ayes:  Etchegoin, Brewer, Clement, Meade, Couch 
 
 
ITEM NO. 12   Director’s Report 
 
City Manager Olson reported the following: 
 
Helena Agri is expected to obtain building permits soon. 
 
Baskin Robbins submitted a tenant improvement plan to operate at 155 W. Hanford-Armona 
Road, west of Save Mart. 
 
DD’s Discounts tenant improvement plan is in review to operate a store at Gateway Plaza. 
 
The City is considering a sales tax measure to be on the next General Election ballot and will 
be exploring outreach opportunities in the coming months. 
 
The owners of 215 W. Hanford-Armona Road have declined multiple offers to sell or lease the 
“Kmart” property.  The City continues to reach out to the property owner and potential 
occupants. 
 
The Maverik project to be located at the NEC of 19th and Iona Avenues is moving forward and 
expects to begin construction early next year. 
 
The City has been in contact with a national equipment rental company interested in adding a 
location in Lemoore. 
 
The City received a conditional award letter from HCD for Affordable Housing and Sustainable 
Communities (AHSC) grant funds associated the Smith Avenue Apartments to be located at  
Smith Avenue and D Street. 
 
Revisions to the site plan for the carwash and convenience store project to be located at 19th 
Avenue and Bush Street will be brought back to the Planning Commission for approval. 



   
 

 3 

 
 
ITEM NO. 13   Commission Reports / Requests  
 
Commissioner Couch took a moment to remember the significance of September 11th. 
 
 
ITEM NO. 14   Adjournment 
 
The meeting adjourned at 6:24 P.M. 
 
 
Approved the 9th day of October 2023.       
  
 
  
  
APPROVED: 
 
 
                          
  Mitchell Couch, Chairperson 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Kristie Baley, Commission Secretary 



                                                                            
 
 
        

City of 

LEMOORE 
CALIFORNIA 

 
711 W Cinnamon Drive  Lemoore, California 93245  (559) 924-6744 

 
 

Staff Report 
 

                  
To: Lemoore Planning Commission  Item No. 5 

From: Steve Brandt, City Planner  

Date: October 2, 2023 Meeting Date: October 9, 2023 

Subject: Major Site Plan Review No. 2021-06: A request by Master Storage 365 
(Richard Torosian, Partner) to extend the approval of Major Site Plan Review 
No. 2021-06 and accompanying entitlements for one year. The project is 
located at the southeast corner of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way in the 
City of Lemoore. (APNs 024-051-012, -013). 
 

Proposed Motion: 
 
Move to adopt Resolution No. 2023-14, approving a one-year extension of time for Major Site 
Plan Review No. 2021-06 and accompanying entitlements in accordance with the findings 
and conditions in the Resolution.  
 
Discussion: 
 
On August 31, 2023, Master Storage 365 submitted a written request to extend the approval 
of Major Site Plan Review No. 2021-06 for one year.  The original request of the site plan 
review was to expand the existing Master Storage facility to an adjacent site at the southeast 
corner of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way (APNs 024-051-012, and 013).  Major Site Plan 
Review No. 2021-06 and accompanying entitlements were approved by the Planning 
Commission on September 13, 2021. 

Master Storage stated that earlier this year they changed architects to incorporate a 2-story 
design into the existing site plan.  Staff recently determined that the proposed changes 
require formal modification to the approved site plan and must be brought back to the 
Planning Commission for approval.  The architect will not be ready to submit the plans until 
late October, therefore Master Storage has submitted a request for extension.   

In accordance with the Lemoore Municipal Code, the expiration date of the Planning 
entitlements is September 13, 2023, two years after the major site plan approval.  Pursuant 
to Municipal Code section 9-2A-7, the applicant or property owner may file a request for 



extension prior to the expiration of the permit, along with appropriate fees and application 
submittal materials.  Staff supports the one-year extension to give the architect more time to 
submit the modifications.  If approved, the expiration date would be extended to September 
13, 2024.  There would be 5 more one-year discretionary extensions remaining that the City 
could grant, as this proposal constitutes the first extension request by the applicant. 

Environmental: 
 
The project is Categorically Exempt form the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) per Class 32 (Infill Development) Section 15332. 

    

Attachments: 
 

Location Map 
Draft Resolution 
Major Site Plan Review No. 2021-06 Approval Documents 

• Resolution No. 2021-16 
• Staff Report Dated September 3, 2021 

o Site Plan Comments/Checklists and Markups 
 Planning Site Plan Review Cover Memo  
 Planning dated September 3, 2021 
 Building dated August 24, 20201 
 Public Works/City Engineering, with Site Plan Markups dated September 3, 

2021 
 Public Works/Refuse/Stormwater/Streets&Traffic/Wastewater/Water with Site 

Plan Markups dated August 23, 2021 
 Fire dated August 19, 2021 
 Public Safety dated August 9, 2021 
 Site Plan and Elevations approved September 13, 2021 
 Notice of Exemption and Biological Clearance Report 

 
 

 
  



 

Location Map 
MSPR No. 2021-06 

 

 
 

 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-14 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
APPROVING A ONE-YEAR TIME EXTENSION OF MAJOR SITE PLAN REVEW NO. 2021-06 

LOCATED AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF IONA AVENUE AND COMMERCE WAY 
(APN’S 024-051-012, 024-051-013) IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE 

 
At a Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore (City) duly called and 
held on October 9, 2023, at 5:30 p.m. on said day, it was moved by Commissioner 
______________, seconded by Commissioner ______________, and carried that the following 
Resolution be adopted: 
 

WHEREAS, Richard Torosian (Partner), on behalf of Master Storage 365 has requested 
a one year time extension for Major Site Plan Review No. 2021-06 and accompanying Planning 
entitlements, located on the southeast corner of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way (APNs 024-
051-012, 024-051-013); and 
 

WHEREAS, the applicant has demonstrated reasonable efforts to pursue the project and 
the need for extension of Major Site Plan Review No. 2021-06 and accompanying Planning 
entitlements; and  

  
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has determined that granting an extension will not 

create a negative impact to the public health, safety, or welfare. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED it has been determined that the project is 
Categorically Exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
per Class 32 (Infill Development) Section 15332; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore 

hereby grants a one-year extension to Major Site Plan Review No. 2021-06 and accompanying 
planning entitlements, which shall expire on September 13, 2024. This extension is granted 
subject to compliance with the conditions of the original approval contained in Planning 
Commission Resolution No. 2021-16. 
 
Passed and adopted at a Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore 
held on October 9, 2023, by the following votes: 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSTAINING: 
ABSENT: 

 
APPROVED: 

 
 

       
Michell Couch, Chairperson 
 
 

 
 
 



ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Kristie Baley, Commission Secretary 
 







                                                                            
 
 
        

City of 

LEMOORE 
CALIFORNIA 

 
711 W Cinnamon Drive  Lemoore, California 93245  (559) 924-6744 

 
 

Staff Report 
 

                  
To: Lemoore Planning Commission  Item No. 8 

From: Steve Brandt, City Planner  

Date: September 3, 2021 Meeting Date: September 13, 2021 
Subject: Major Site Plan Review No. 2021-06: a request by Master Storage 365 for 

site plan review of the expansion of a ministorage facility located at the 
southeast corner of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way in the City of 
Lemoore. (APNs 024-051-012, -013). 
 

Proposed Motion: 
 
Move to adopt Resolution No. 2021-16, approving Major Site Plan Review No. 2021-06 in 
accordance with the findings and conditions in the Resolution.  
 
Project Proposal: 
 
The applicant is seeking a Major Site Plan Review of the expansion of an existing Master 
Storage facility to an adjacent site at the southeast corner of Iona Avenue and Commerce 
Way. 

Applicant   Master Storage 365 
Location   906 Commerce Way 
Existing Land Use  Vacant 
APN(s)   024-051-012, 024-051-013 
Total Building Size 66,131 square feet 
Zoning   Light Industrial (ML) 
General Plan   Light Industrial  
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Adjacent Land Use, Zone and General Plan Designation  

 
Direction  Current Use  Zone  General Plan  

North Truck and tractor 
service ML Light Industrial 

South Vacant land ML Light Industrial 

East Commercial industrial 
building ML Light Industrial 

West Commercial industrial 
building ML Light Industrial 

 
Previous Relevant Actions: 
 
The Planning Commission approved a different version of this site plan on March 9, 2020.  
This new site plan would replace that approval. 
 
Zoning/General Plan: 
 
The site is zoned Light Industrial (ML) per the Lemoore Municipal Code. Mini-storage facilities 
and offices are allowed uses in this zone. This project is being brought to the Planning 
Commission for approval of the Site Plan. 

 
Access and Right of Way: 
 
The newly proposed facility will have two points of ingress and egress. One will be from north 
Commerce Way into a parking area and the other will be from west Iona Avenue into a 
separate parking area. 
 
The existing site has one entrance and an emergency access at the northeast corner of the 
site.  The site is proposing to close this emergency access point.  Staff is recommending that 
the access point remain open for emergency access. This is because, although the site is 
intended to be operated as one facility, the site will remain as two parcels, which leaves open 
the possibility that they could be operated separately.  In that case, the City would want two 
access points per site for public safety access. 
 
The applicant has proposed the recording of a covenant agreement that would ensure that 
the two properties could not be sold separately so that the northeast corner emergency 
access could be closed permanently. After consultation with the Fire Department, City staff 
still recommends that the access remain open for emergency vehicles to use. 
 
 



 

Parking / On-site Circulation: 

Access to the new site would be from an entrance off Iona Avenue further west from the 
existing entry on the adjoining property. A third entrance would be located off Commerce 
Way. There is parking available at each of the entry locations with more parking allowed 
along internal drives. 
 
The site plan is showing one less parking space than is required.  Staff recommends that 
one additional parking space be striped outside of a fire lane behind the gates, but near 
Building C.  This could be used by someone renting office space in Building C. 
 
Operations: 

The site is fenced and gated and provides security cameras for continuous monitoring and 
surveillance. The site will be accessible 24 hours a day to customers but only by using an 
access code or key supplied by the site manager upon receipt of contract. 

Environmental Assessment: 
 
The project is Categorically Exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) per Class 32 (Infill Development) Section 15332. 
 
Recommended Approval Findings: 

A major site plan review shall be granted only when the designated approving authority 
determines that the proposed use or activity complies with all of the following findings.  City 
staff recommends that these findings be made based upon review of the project as described 
in this staff report, and with the recommended conditions of approval.  

 
1. The proposed use is consistent with the General Plan, any applicable specific plans, 

and all applicable provisions of this title.  The proposed use is consistent with the 
General Plan; the proposed land uses are consistent with the Zoning Ordinance. 

2. The proposed architecture, site design, and landscape are suitable for the purposes 
of the building and the site and will enhance the character of the neighborhood and 
community. 

3. The architecture, character, and scale of the building and the site are compatible with 
the character of buildings on adjoining and nearby properties. 

4. The proposed project will not create conflicts with vehicular, bicycle, or pedestrian 
transportation modes of circulation. 

5. The development conforms to applicable provisions of this Zoning Code. 

6. The project is Categorically Exempt from the requirements of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per Class 32 (Infill Development) Section 15332.  



 

Recommended Conditions: 

Staff recommends the following conditions be applied to the approval of the Major Site Plan 
Review: 

 
1. The site shall be developed consistent with the submitted site plan and applicable 

development standards found in the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance, and as 
modified by the site plan review comments. 

2. The existing access point to/from Iona Avenue on the north east corner of the site shall remain 
open as an emergency access for public safety vehicles. 

3. Prior to any ground disturbance, an archaeological survey must be completed. If 
resources are found, the Tribal Cultural Staff shall monitor the site during grading 
activities. The Tribal Cultural Staff shall provide pre-construction briefings to 
supervisory personnel and any excavation contractor, which will include information 
on potential cultural material finds and, on the procedures, to be enacted if resources 
are found. Prior to any ground disturbance, the applicant shall offer the Santa Rosa 
Rancheria Tachi Yakut Tribe the opportunity to provide a Native American Monitor 
during ground disturbing activities during both construction and decommissioning. 
Tribal participation would be dependent upon the availability and interest of the Tribe. 

4. The time limits and potential extensions and expiration of this Major Site Plan Review 
are established per Section 9-2A-9 of the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Attachments: 
 

Location Map 
Draft Resolution 
Proposed Site Plan and Elevations dated July 28, 2021 
Site Plan Comments/Checklists and Markups 

o Site Plan Review Cover Memo 
o Planning 
o Fire 
o Police 
o Public Works 
o Public Works site plan markups 
o Engineering 

Findings for Notice of Exemption  
 

  



 

Location Map 
MSPR No. 2021-06 

 

 
 

 

 



                                                                            
 
 
        

City of 

LEMOORE 
CALIFORNIA 

 
711 W. Cinnamon Drive ● Lemoore, California 93245 ● (559) 924-6744 ext. 740 

 
 

Site Plan Review Comments 
            

To: Master Storage 365 Major Site Plan No.  2021-06  

From: Steve Brandt, City Planner  

Date: September 3, 2021   
  

SUBMITTAL NO: 1st submittal 
SUBMITTAL DATE: July 28, 2021 
PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the southeast corner of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 

 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

APN(S): Expansion Site APN 024-051-012 / Existing Site APN 024-051-013 
 

 Site Plan is acceptable as proposed.  All checked comments apply. Proceed to submittal for: 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Site Plan requires changes that are described in the comments to be acceptable.  All checked comments apply. 
Make described changes and proceed to submittal for: Building Permits with revised site plan 

     _________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Site Plan requires changes that are described in the attached Department checklists.  All checked comments 
apply. Make described changes and resubmit the site plan for further review. The most current site plan is dated 
_____________. If there have been any design or layout changes since the previous submittal then, please 
submit those changes with the revisions made according to the attached checklists. 

 
Attachments: 
 

Checklists:   
Planning 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 
Public Works site plan markups 
Engineering 
 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 1 of 5 

PLANNING SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS DATED:    August 18, 2021 

The following comments are applicable to your site plan when checked. Comments in italics are specific to 
the project. 

Project Information 

 General Plan Land Use Element land use designation(s): Light Industrial 

 General Plan Circulation Element adjacent street(s): None 

 Zoning designation: Light Industrial (ML) 

 Proposed land use: Light Industrial 

    Allowed use       Not allowed use    Requires a conditional use permit 

Site Plan Comments 

 

Site Area Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Site area per 
dwelling units 
(minimum)  

   

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (minimum)  20,000 sq.ft. 3.67 acres  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (maximum)     

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot width 
(minimum)     

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot depth 
(maximum) 100 feet 410 feet  

 

Building Setback, Height, and 
Coverage Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Front Building 
Setback (minimum) 25’-0” 25’-6”  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Interior Side 
Building Setback 
(minimum) 

0’-0” 0’-0”  



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 2 of 5 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Street Side Building 
Setback (minimum) 

10’-0” 25’-6”  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Rear Building 
Setback (minimum) 25’-0” 

 

0’-0” 

 

 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Separation Between 
Buildings 
(minimum)  

0’-0” 

 

20’-0” 

 
 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Height (maximum) 60’ 
Varies from 
11’ to 24’ at 
towers. 

 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(minimum)  .10 .41 

Site to be developed is 3.67 ac 
(159,865 sf) with total proposed 
building area of 66,113 sf for a 
total of 41% lot coverage ratio. 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(maximum) .60 .41  

 

Architectural and Site Design 
Standards (Chapter 9-5C) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Residential 
Projects 

  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Commercial and 
Industrial Projects 

Meet requirements of Section 9-
5C-5 

 Revise plans so that one of the 
new entry drives and approach 
should contain at least two (2) 
of the following:  
 (1)   Ornamental landscaping 
 (2)   Low decorative wall 
 (3)   Monument sign 
 (4)   Decorative paving 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Big Box Stores    

 

 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 3 of 5 

Parking and Loading Standards 
(Chapter 9-5E) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Number of off-street 
Parking Spaces  22 new spaces 

21 spaces 
shown 

 

Add one 
additional 
space behind 
the gates near 
Bldg C outside 
of any fire 
lanes. 

2 per 1000sf of office space 
(per Table 9-5E-4-A1) 

Bldg A1 1510 sf @ 2 per 1000  

1510/1000 = 1.5 

1.5 x 2 = 3 spaces 

Bldg C 4644 sf @ 4 per 1000 

4644/1000 = 4.6 

4.6 x 4 = 19 spaces 

Bldg N (keep existing in place) 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

 
 

Parking Design 
Standards 

   

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Loading Design 
Standards  

   

 

  Downtown Standards 
(Chapter 9-6) 

  Mixed Use Standards 
(Chapter 9-7) 

  Overlay Zones 
(Chapter 9-9) 

Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

  
  

 

Entitlements Required 

 Major Site Plan Review is required for this project. 

 Conditional Use Permit is required for this project.   

 Zone Variance is required for this project.   

 Tentative Subdivision Map is required for this project.   



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 4 of 5 

 Tentative Parcel Map is required for this project.   

 Lot Line Adjustment is required for this project. 

 Zone Change is required for this project.   

 General Plan Amendment is required for this project.   

 Other discretionary action required for this project:  Covenant to limit sale of one of the parcels separate from 
the other requires City acceptance 

 

CEQA Document Required (This is a preliminary determination that will be finalized when the project 
application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Exempt from CEQA - Ministerial Exemption: Section 21080(b)(1); 15268. 

 Exempt from CEQA - Categorical Exemption Section 15332 (Infill Development Exemption). 

 Exempt from CEQA - Statutory Exemption Section _____________________________________. 

 Negative Declaration or Mitigated Negative Declaration. 

 Environmental Impact Report. 

 

Environmental Technical Documents Required to back up CEQA document (This is a preliminary 
determination that will be finalized when the project application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Air Impact Analysis. 

 Acoustical Analysis. 

 Biological Report.   

 Cultural Records Search. 

 Traffic Impact Assessment. 

 Vehicle Trip Generation Estimates. 

 Covenant.  

 Other:  Biological and cultural clearance memos already prepared to back up finding of CEQA Exemption. 

 

General Requirements from Zoning Ordinance that apply to the project when checked. 

 Meet all Noise, Odor, and Vibration Performance Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-2. 

 Make all required Property and Utility Improvements described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-3. 

 Meet all Outdoor Lighting Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-4. 

 Meet all applicable Fence and Wall Standards described in Zoning Ordinance 9-5B-5. 

 Meet all MWELO requirements for landscape and irrigation plans. 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 5 of 5 

 Street Trees shall be selected from the approved Street Tree list in Table 9-5D-5-A1. 

  Landscape and Irrigation Plans required at Building Permit submittal. Landscape Plans will be checked for 
compliance with MWELO, including but not limited to the following conditions: 

• Plan shall include square footages of landscaped area shown, water use calculations, and the material to be utilized. 
• Water use classifications shall be based on WUCOLS IV. 
• All required landscape areas shall be included in the Plan. 
• Landscaping shall meet all other applicable requirements of Title 9, Article D1 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Other Requirements 

 Additional comments:  This project is an expansion of the Master Storage facility. It is to include more self-
storage spaces, a main administrative office, cold storage facilities, rental office suites and some remodeling 
to existing buildings N and M and additions to buildings K and I. 

 Site to be developed is 3.67 ac (159,865 sf) with total proposed building area of 66,113 sf for a total of 41% lot 
coverage ratio.  

The site plan proposes to close the emergency access on the northeast corner of the existing facility.  City staff 
wants the emergency access to remain.  The site plan and building plans submitted shall accommodate this 
revision. 

 

 
Steve Brandt      

                    9/3/2021        
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Steve Brandt, AICP, City Planner              
Printed name 



                                                                            
 
 
        

City of 

LEMOORE 
CALIFORNIA 

 
711 W. Cinnamon Drive ● Lemoore, California 93245 ● (559) 924-6744 ext. 740 

 
 

Site Plan Review Comments 
            

To: Master Storage 365 Major Site Plan No.  2021-06  

From: Steve Brandt, City Planner  

Date: September 3, 2021   
  

SUBMITTAL NO: 1st submittal 
SUBMITTAL DATE: July 28, 2021 
PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the southeast corner of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 

 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

APN(S): Expansion Site APN 024-051-012 / Existing Site APN 024-051-013 
 

 Site Plan is acceptable as proposed.  All checked comments apply. Proceed to submittal for: 
________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Site Plan requires changes that are described in the comments to be acceptable.  All checked comments apply. 
Make described changes and proceed to submittal for: Building Permits with revised site plan 

     _________________________________________________________________________________ 

 Site Plan requires changes that are described in the attached Department checklists.  All checked comments 
apply. Make described changes and resubmit the site plan for further review. The most current site plan is dated 
_____________. If there have been any design or layout changes since the previous submittal then, please 
submit those changes with the revisions made according to the attached checklists. 

 
Attachments: 
 

Checklists:   
Planning 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 
Public Works site plan markups 
Engineering 
 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 1 of 5 

PLANNING SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS DATED:    August 18, 2021 

The following comments are applicable to your site plan when checked. Comments in italics are specific to 
the project. 

Project Information 

 General Plan Land Use Element land use designation(s): Light Industrial 

 General Plan Circulation Element adjacent street(s): None 

 Zoning designation: Light Industrial (ML) 

 Proposed land use: Light Industrial 

    Allowed use       Not allowed use    Requires a conditional use permit 

Site Plan Comments 

 

Site Area Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Site area per 
dwelling units 
(minimum)  

   

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (minimum)  20,000 sq.ft. 3.67 acres  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (maximum)     

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot width 
(minimum)     

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot depth 
(maximum) 100 feet 410 feet  

 

Building Setback, Height, and 
Coverage Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Front Building 
Setback (minimum) 25’-0” 25’-6”  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Interior Side 
Building Setback 
(minimum) 

0’-0” 0’-0”  



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 2 of 5 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Street Side Building 
Setback (minimum) 

10’-0” 25’-6”  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Rear Building 
Setback (minimum) 25’-0” 

 

0’-0” 

 

 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Separation Between 
Buildings 
(minimum)  

0’-0” 

 

20’-0” 

 
 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Height (maximum) 60’ 
Varies from 
11’ to 24’ at 
towers. 

 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(minimum)  .10 .41 

Site to be developed is 3.67 ac 
(159,865 sf) with total proposed 
building area of 66,113 sf for a 
total of 41% lot coverage ratio. 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(maximum) .60 .41  

 

Architectural and Site Design 
Standards (Chapter 9-5C) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Residential 
Projects 

  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Commercial and 
Industrial Projects 

Meet requirements of Section 9-
5C-5 

 Revise plans so that one of the 
new entry drives and approach 
should contain at least two (2) 
of the following:  
 (1)   Ornamental landscaping 
 (2)   Low decorative wall 
 (3)   Monument sign 
 (4)   Decorative paving 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Big Box Stores    

 

 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 3 of 5 

Parking and Loading Standards 
(Chapter 9-5E) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Number of off-street 
Parking Spaces  22 new spaces 

21 spaces 
shown 

 

Add one 
additional 
space behind 
the gates near 
Bldg C outside 
of any fire 
lanes. 

2 per 1000sf of office space 
(per Table 9-5E-4-A1) 

Bldg A1 1510 sf @ 2 per 1000  

1510/1000 = 1.5 

1.5 x 2 = 3 spaces 

Bldg C 4644 sf @ 4 per 1000 

4644/1000 = 4.6 

4.6 x 4 = 19 spaces 

Bldg N (keep existing in place) 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

 
 

Parking Design 
Standards 

   

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Loading Design 
Standards  

   

 

  Downtown Standards 
(Chapter 9-6) 

  Mixed Use Standards 
(Chapter 9-7) 

  Overlay Zones 
(Chapter 9-9) 

Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

  
  

 

Entitlements Required 

 Major Site Plan Review is required for this project. 

 Conditional Use Permit is required for this project.   

 Zone Variance is required for this project.   

 Tentative Subdivision Map is required for this project.   



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 4 of 5 

 Tentative Parcel Map is required for this project.   

 Lot Line Adjustment is required for this project. 

 Zone Change is required for this project.   

 General Plan Amendment is required for this project.   

 Other discretionary action required for this project:  Covenant to limit sale of one of the parcels separate from 
the other requires City acceptance 

 

CEQA Document Required (This is a preliminary determination that will be finalized when the project 
application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Exempt from CEQA - Ministerial Exemption: Section 21080(b)(1); 15268. 

 Exempt from CEQA - Categorical Exemption Section 15332 (Infill Development Exemption). 

 Exempt from CEQA - Statutory Exemption Section _____________________________________. 

 Negative Declaration or Mitigated Negative Declaration. 

 Environmental Impact Report. 

 

Environmental Technical Documents Required to back up CEQA document (This is a preliminary 
determination that will be finalized when the project application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Air Impact Analysis. 

 Acoustical Analysis. 

 Biological Report.   

 Cultural Records Search. 

 Traffic Impact Assessment. 

 Vehicle Trip Generation Estimates. 

 Covenant.  

 Other:  Biological and cultural clearance memos already prepared to back up finding of CEQA Exemption. 

 

General Requirements from Zoning Ordinance that apply to the project when checked. 

 Meet all Noise, Odor, and Vibration Performance Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-2. 

 Make all required Property and Utility Improvements described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-3. 

 Meet all Outdoor Lighting Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-4. 

 Meet all applicable Fence and Wall Standards described in Zoning Ordinance 9-5B-5. 

 Meet all MWELO requirements for landscape and irrigation plans. 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 5 of 5 

 Street Trees shall be selected from the approved Street Tree list in Table 9-5D-5-A1. 

  Landscape and Irrigation Plans required at Building Permit submittal. Landscape Plans will be checked for 
compliance with MWELO, including but not limited to the following conditions: 

• Plan shall include square footages of landscaped area shown, water use calculations, and the material to be utilized. 
• Water use classifications shall be based on WUCOLS IV. 
• All required landscape areas shall be included in the Plan. 
• Landscaping shall meet all other applicable requirements of Title 9, Article D1 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Other Requirements 

 Additional comments:  This project is an expansion of the Master Storage facility. It is to include more self-
storage spaces, a main administrative office, cold storage facilities, rental office suites and some remodeling 
to existing buildings N and M and additions to buildings K and I. 

 Site to be developed is 3.67 ac (159,865 sf) with total proposed building area of 66,113 sf for a total of 41% lot 
coverage ratio.  

The site plan proposes to close the emergency access on the northeast corner of the existing facility.  City staff 
wants the emergency access to remain.  The site plan and building plans submitted shall accommodate this 
revision. 

 

 
Steve Brandt      

                    9/3/2021        
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Steve Brandt, AICP, City Planner              
Printed name 





   
 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 

  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 

 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 
 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
  
 

  Engineering, Page 1 of 3 

ENGINEERING SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS DATED:  September 3, 2021 
Recommended action: 

 Acceptable as submitted. See applicable comments below for permit application. 

 Revise per comments below (Additional comments section under Site Plan requirements). Resubmittal not 
required. See applicable comments below for permit application. 

 Resubmit with additional information. See comments below. 

 Redesign required. See comments below. 
 
===================================================================================== 

The following items are required to be shown on the Site Plan or provided with the Site Plan: 

 Show entire property boundary with dimensions.  

 Show all adjacent streets including existing and proposed improvements, such as curb, gutter, drive approaches, 
sidewalk, transit/bus stops, etc.:  Show sidewalk: 5 ft. min. wide, with 0 ft. wide parkway (match existing 
width in area);  Show locations of all drive approaches per City Standards;  Provide ADA compliant 
sidewalk at drive approaches  

 Show existing on-site structures and improvements on the site, such as buildings, wells, septic tanks, fences, 
driveways, etc., and note if they are to remain, removed, relocated or demolished.   

 Show existing structures and improvements adjacent to the site.   

 Show all proposed on-site improvements including buildings with entry and loading access location, parking lot 
layout, landscape areas, pedestrian access/pathways, trash/refuse enclosure, mailbox/postal unit, etc. per City 
Standards and Building Code requirements. Include vehicle/truck path of travel for drive thru aisles, loading areas 
and trash/refuse enclosure.  

 Show location and proposed size of all City water and sanitary sewer services to serve the project per City 
Standards. City mains to be used for this project are located here: Water: 12” in Commerce & Enterprise; Sewer: 
10” in Commerce & Enterprise. 

 Show proposed on-site fire hydrants per Fire Department requirements.   

 Show temporary fire and emergency access.   Provide all-weather fire and emergency access road. Also, provide 
easement/covenant for access of emergency vehicles to existing development. 

 Show proposed disposal of storm runoff:  On-site basin required per City Standards,  Surface drain to street, 
 Connect to City storm drain system: Use low impact development practices for storm drainage; drain to 

landscape areas with overflow to street/drainage system. 

 Caltrans comments required prior to approval of project. 

 Written comments required from ditch company.   

 Additional comments: Confirm with Fire Dept that the NE access on existing development can be closed. 
Recommend this remain open for emergency vehicles. 

 
 



   
 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 

  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 

 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 
 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
  
 

  Engineering, Page 2 of 3 

 

The following are required with permit application: 

 Submit on-site grading and improvement plans and off-site improvement plans detailing all proposed work. On-site 
and off-site improvement plans to be prepared and signed by registered civil engineer. Project architect may prepare 
and sign on-site improvement plans. 

 City encroachment permit required which shall include an approved traffic control plan. 

 Caltrans encroachment permit required. 

 Caltrans comments required prior to approval of project. 

 Written comments required from ditch company.   

 All public streets within project limits and across project frontage shall be improved to their full width, subject 
to available right-of-way, in accordance with City policies, standards and specifications. 

 Dedicate additional right-of-way along _____________. Right-of-way dedication required by grant deed. A title 
report is required for verification of ownership. 

 Install street striping as required by the City Engineer. 

 Install sidewalk:  5 ft. min. wide, with 0 ft. wide parkway on Commerce & Iona (match existing in area). 

 Show locations of all drive approaches and construct to City Standards. Show sight lines for exiting traffic 
onto public streets. Keep required sight line areas clear of obstructions per City Stds. 

 Cluster mailbox supports required or use postal unit.  
 Landscape and irrigation improvement plans to be submitted for the entire project.  Landscape plans will need to 

comply with the City of Lemoore’s street tree ordinance and the State MWELO requirements.   

 On-site potable water and fire protection water master plan for the entire development shall be submitted for 
approval prior to approval of any phase of the development.  The water system will need to be extended to the 
boundaries of the development where future connection and extension is anticipated.  The water system will 
need to be sized to serve any future developments that are anticipated to connect to the system. 

 On-site sanitary Sewer master plan for the entire development shall be submitted for approval prior to approval 
of any phase of the development.  The sewer system will need to be extended to the boundaries of the 
development where future connection and extension is anticipated.  The sewer system will need to be sized to 
serve any future developments that are anticipated to connect to the system.  

 Grading and drainage plan required.  If the project is phased, then a master plan is required for the entire 
project area that shall include pipe network sizing and grades and street grades. 

 Prepared by a registered civil engineer or project architect.   
 All elevations shall be based on the City’s benchmark network.   

Storm run-off from the project shall be handled as follows: 
  Directed to the City’s existing storm drainage system; Use low impact development practices – drain to 

on-site landscape areas with overflow to street/drainage system. 
  Directed to a permanent on-site basin per City Standards 



   
 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 

  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 

 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 
 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
  
 

  Engineering, Page 3 of 3 

 Directed to a temporary on-site basin which is required until a connection with adequate capacity is 
available to the City’s storm drainage system.  On-site basin shall be constructed in accordance with City 
Standards. 

 Protect Oak trees during construction.  

 Show adjacent property grade elevations on improvement plans. A retaining wall will be required for grade 
differences greater than 0.5 feet at the property line. 

 Relocate existing utility poles and/or facilities as required to construct improvements. 

 Underground all existing overhead utilities within the project limits. Existing overhead electrical lines 
over 50kV shall be exempt from undergrounding. 

 Provide R-value tests; 2 min. at on-site locations, provide copy of geotechnical report with plan submittal. 

 Traffic indexes per City standards:  min T.I.=5.5 for refuse truck travel areas/drive aisles. 

 Subject to existing reimbursement agreement to reimburse prior developer. 

 Abandon any existing wells per Code; a building permit is required. 

 Remove existing irrigation lines and dispose off-site. 

 Remove existing leach fields and septic tanks. 

 Fugitive dust will be controlled in accordance with the applicable rules of San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution 
Control District’s Regulation VIII. Copies of any required permits will be provided to the City of Lemoore. 

 The project may be subject to the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District’s Rule 9510 Indirect 
Source Review per the rule’s applicability criteria. A copy of the approved AIA application will be provided to 
the City of Lemoore. 

 If the project meets the one acre of disturbance criteria of the State’s Storm Water Program, then coverage 
under General Permit Order 2009-0009-DWQ is required and a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) is needed.  A copy of the approved permit will be provided to the City of Lemoore. 

 
Additional comments:   See attached red-lined markup for additional comments. Provide easement/covenant for access 

by emergency vehicles across property to existing development. Provide confirmation from Fire Dept. that NE 
access on existing development can be closed and any conditions for closure.   

                           

  Jeff Cowart               9-3-21       
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Jeff Cowart, PE   City Engineer        
Printed name
 



Jeff.Cowart
Callout
Provide easement/covenant for emergency access across this property if needed to serve existing development

Jeff.Cowart
Callout
Confirm with Fire dept re. closure of this access

Jeff.Cowart
Callout
Utilize low impact development practices for storm drainage. Drain site to landscape areas prior to overflowing to street/drainage system.

Jeff.Cowart
Callout
Check sight distance at drive approaches for exiting traffic



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

 
Public Works, Page 1 of 4 

PUBLIC WORKS COMMENTS DATED: 8-23   , 2021 

REFUSE 

The following comments are applicable for your site plan when checked: 

  Type of refuse service not indicated. 

  You are responsible for all cardboard and other bulky recyclables to be broken down before depositing in recycle 
containers. 

  Refuse enclosure not to City of Lemoore Standards. 

  Refuse enclosure(s) must be M-6 single dumpster enclosure(s). 

  Refuse enclosure(s) must be M-6 double dumpster enclosure(s). Room for minimum 4 dumpsters. 

  Refuse enclosure gates required. 

  You must provide combination or keys for access to locked gates / bins.  

  Location of bin enclosure not acceptable.  Relocate to:  GATES MUST OPEN 180 DEG.   
  . 

  Inadequate number of bins to provide sufficient service. 

  Drive approach too narrow for refuse truck access. Provide vehicle turning movement layout. 

  Area not adequate to allowing refuse truck turning radius:  Based on vehicle turning movement layout.    
    Commercial ____ ft. outside ____ ft. inside;    Residential ____ ft. outside ____ ft. inside. 

  Paved areas should be engineered to withstand a 55,000 lb. refuse truck. 

  Hammerhead turnaround required at:         . 

  Cul-de-sac must be built per City of Lemoore Standards. 

  Refuse enclosures are for City refuse containers only.  Storage of grease drums or any other items is not allowed. 

  Refuse enclosure gates must open 180 degrees and hinges mounted in front of post. 

  Concrete slab required in front of enclosure per Lemoore City Standards. 

  Area in front of refuse enclosures must be striped with NO PARKING.  

  Refuse enclosure to be designed and located for STAB service (DIRECT ACCESS). 

  You will be required to roll container out to curb for service. 

  Roll off compactors must have a clearance of 3 feet from any wall on both sides and there must be a minimum of  
53 feet clearance in front of the compactor to allow truck service. 
 

  Additional comments:   Please refer to “Red Marked “ plan for comments     
       

              
              
               

R
eq

ui
re

d 

C
om

pl
et

e 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

 
Public Works, Page 2 of 4 

 No comments.  Refuse acceptable as submitted. 

THE FOLLOWING CHECKED ITEMS ARE APPLICABLE FOR FUTURE PERMITS AND ARE 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL. 

 

STORM WATER 

The following comments are applicable to your site plan when checked: 

  - 

  -  

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  Additional comments:   It is recommended that water run-off drain into landscape swale before entering storm 
drain system sheet flow to gutter. Further discussion will occur when improvement drawings are submitted.  
               
               
         
                

 No comments.  Storm Water acceptable as submitted. 

 
 
STREETS / TRAFFIC 

The following comments are applicable to your site plan when checked: 

  The City will prohibit on-street parking as deemed necessary.  

  Install street light(s) per City of Lemoore Standards. 

  Install street name blades at each intersection.  Street names to be modified to the alignment of existing streets and  
without duplicating names. 

  Install stop signs at interior roadways intersecting with:         

                
  Construct parking per City of Lemoore Standards. 

  Construct drive approach(es) per City of Lemoore Standards. 

  Traffic Impact Study required. 

  Additional comments:               
                

R
eq

ui
re

d 

C
om

pl
et

e 

R
eq

ui
re

d 

C
om

pl
et

e 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

 
Public Works, Page 3 of 4 

                
                

 No comments.  Streets / Traffic acceptable as submitted. 

 

WASTEWATER 

The following comments are applicable to your site plan when checked: 

  Wastewater discharge permit application required. 

  Sand and Grease Interceptor required –   If food facility is constructed     
    

  Grease interceptor required.             

  Garbage grinder required – ____ hp. Maximize.           

  Submission of dry process declaration required.   

  No single pass cooling water is permitted.            

  Additional Comments Plan does not indicate new sewer connection?      
      

               
               
               

 No comments.  Wastewater acceptable as submitted. 

 
 
WATER 

The following comments are applicable to your site plan when checked: 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  - 

  Additional comments:   Plan does not indicate new water service connection?     
       

              
               
               

R
eq

ui
re

d 

C
om

pl
et

e 

R
eq

ui
re

d 

C
om

pl
et

e 



 MAJOR SPR NO:  2021-06 SUBMITTAL NO: 1 
  SUBMITTAL DATE:  July 28, 2021 
 PROJECT TITLE:  Master Storage  
 DESCRIPTION: 66,131 sq. ft. Expansion  
 LOCATION: 3.67 acres on the SEC Iona Avenue and Commerce Way 
  Expansion Site: 906 Commerce Way / Existing Site: 1305 Iona Avenue  
 APPLICANT: Master Storage 365 
 PROPERTY OWNER: MS Lemoore, LLC (Richard Torosian, Representative) 

 APN(S): Expansion Site 024-051-012 / Existing Site 024-051-013 
 
 

 
Public Works, Page 4 of 4 

 No comments.  Water acceptable as submitted. 

 
                
Authorized signature       Date 
 
 Frank Rivera, Public Works Director          
Printed name 



riverfra
Line

riverfra
Polygon

riverfra
Callout
IF THUS IS AN ISLAND MOVE TO THE NORTH TO AVOID DIRECT ACCESS TO TRASH ENCLOSURE

riverfra
Polygon

riverfra
Callout
SHOW TURNING READIUS FOR FIRE AND REFUSE VEHICLES FOR ENTRY AND EXITING DIRECTIONS

riverfra
Callout
TRASH ENC. DOORS SHALL OPEN 180 DEG.

riverfra
Callout
TRASH ENC. DOORS SHALL OPEN 180 DEG.

riverfra
Callout
INDICATE MIN. AND MAX. WIDTH OF SIDEWALK.















































Existing bldg

Existing bldg

Existing bldg

Existing bldg









1 
 

City of Lemoore 

CEQA Class 32 (Infill Development) Exemption Findings 
  

The purpose of CEQA Categorical Exemption 32 (Section 15332 of California 
Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) Guidelines, Title 14, Chapter 3 of the California Code 
of Regulations) is to promote in-fill development within urbanized areas. The class 
consists of environmentally benign in-fill projects which are consistent with local general 
plan and zoning requirements. This class is not intended to be applied to projects which 
would result in any significant traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality effects. 

Project Description:   

Major Site Plan Review No. 2019-01: a request by Master Storage (Precision 
Engineering, agent) to construct an expansion of an existing ministorage facility 
including 5,670 sq.ft. of leasable office suites. The site is located at the southeast corner 
of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way (APNs 024-051-012 and 024-051-013). 

Required Findings: 

a) The project is consistent with the applicable General Plan designation and all 
applicable General Plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designations and 
regulations. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: The project site is designated Light Industrial and 
zoned Light Industrial (ML).  A ministorage is consistent with this land use 
designation and zone. 

b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more 
than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: The project site is a 3.48-acre parcel located at the 
intersection of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way within the city limits of Lemoore. 

c) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened species. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: The project site is located within an urbanizing area 
on a lot with periodic ground disturbance to keep weeds under control.  A biological 
pre-construction clearance survey was prepared for the site, and is incorporated 
into this review by reference.  According to the survey document, the project site 
and the surrounding area consists of developed land for commercial use or is 
currently undeveloped non-native grassland scheduled for commercial use. All 
Project-related ground disturbance will occur within the project site. At present, the 
site provides low quality suitable habitat that makes it unlikely to support any 
special-status plant species. Therefore, the project site is expected to have low 
potential for any special-status wildlife species to occur, except burrowing owl or 
San Joaquin kit fox that could be present from time to time as a transient forager. 



2 
 

This clearance survey provides evidence that a Class 32 Categorical Exemption is 
supported as determined by the City in MSPR No. 2019-01. 

d.1)    Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: The project site is located on an active industrial 
corridor.  Both Iona Avenue and Commerce Way are completely built out from curb 
to curb along the site.  The Lemoore General Plan shows that full buildout of the 
site and surrounding site would not result in a significant traffic impact. 

d.2)    Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to noise.  

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: The project site is located in an industrial area where 
certain levels of noise are expected.  The use of the site as a mini-storage and 
office is expected to generate noise at levels much less than surrounding uses. 

d.3)   Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to air 
quality.  

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: The project site proposes 62,706 sq.ft. of new 
building space and is located along an existing industrial corridor.  The project falls 
well below the 370,000 sq.ft. designated for industrial parks in the Small Project 
Analysis Levels (SPAL) document that standardizes requirements for air quality 
mitigation measures as set forth by the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control 
District. There are no known significant air quality issues. 

d.4)   Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to water 
quality. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: The site will connect to the existing municipal water 
service system provided by the City of Lemoore and will remain within the design 
capacities of the system. There are no known significant water quality issues. 

e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION: The Project Site is located in an existing industrial 
area already serviced by all major utilities and municipal services. The project is 
not anticipated to produce any undue burden on municipal utilities or services. 
Water service, sewer service, police protection, and fire service can adequately be 
provided for by the City of Lemoore. There are no known significant utility or 
service issues. 

Attachments: 

Biological Clearance Report – Master Storage Project Expansion. February 2020 

 

Authority cited: CEQA Guidelines Section 15332 of California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) 
Guidelines, Title 14, Chapter 3 of the California Code of Regulations 



BIOLOGICAL CLEARANCE REPORT 

 

MASTER STORAGE EXPANSION PROJECT 

Prepared for: 

City of Lemoore  
711 West Cinnamon Drive 
Lemoore, California 93245 

Contact Person:  Steve Brandt 
Phone: (559)924-6744 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Consultant: 

 
5080 California Avenue, Suite 220 

Bakersfield, CA 93309 
Contact: Jaymie Brauer 
Phone: (661) 616-2600 

 
 

February 2020 

 

© Copyright by Quad Knopf, Inc. 
Unauthorized use prohibited. 
Project #190002.02



 
 
 
 
  

 ENGINEERING DESIGN & 

CONSTRUCTION MGMT. 

SURVEY & GIS URBAN DESIGN & 

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE 

PLANNING BIOLOGY & 

ENVIRONMENTAL PERMITTING 

February 7, 2020 

 
Steve Brandt 
City Planner 
City of Lemoore  
711 West Cinnamon Drive 
Lemoore, CA  93245 
 
RE: Biological Pre-Construction Clearance Survey Results for the Master Storage 

Expansion Project 
 
Dear Mr. Brandt: 

This letter provides the results of the biological pre-construction clearance survey conducted for 
the proposed Master Storage Expansion Major Site Plan Review No. 2019-01 ([MSPR]; Project). 
The Project is located on the southeast corner of Iona Avenue and Commerce Way in Lemoore, 
California. The Project will include the expansion of an existing ministorage facility including 
5,670 sq. ft. of leasable office suites. The initial work will include grading, general masonry, and 
associated infrastructure such as water and electrical lines and paved parking. The Project is 
located within Kings County, California (Attachment A, Figure 1). A biological clearance survey 
was conducted on February 6, 2020 to support the City’s use of a Class 32 Categorical Exemption 
under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), as required by the MSPR No. 2019-01 
(Attachment B).  

The Project site is within Section 16, Township 19S, Range 20E, Mount Diablo Base and Meridian 
(MDB&M), and the Lemoore U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 7.5-minute topographic quadrangle 
(Attachment A - Figure 2).  

QK was retained by the City of Lemoore to conduct a pre-construction clearance survey to identify 
the presence or absence of special-status plant and wildlife species or their habitat within the 
Project site. The Project is subject to requirements related to environmental compliance with the 
California Environmental Species Act, the Federal Environmental Species Act (16 U.S.C. 1531-
1543), and the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (16 U.S.C. 703-711) as noted in the Major Site Plan No. 
2019-01. Results of the survey are provided herein. Photographs were taken to document existing 
conditions and to provide a visual perspective of the Project site (Attachment C - Representative 
Photographs).  

METHODOLOGY  

QK Biologists Karissa Denney and Erica Pena conducted the survey on February 6, 2020. The 
primary focus of the survey is to detect the presence of special-status species that have the potential 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 2  
 
to occur at the Project site. The survey includes a 250-foot buffer (Biological Study Area or BSA, 
Attachment A, Figure 3). The survey focused on detecting special-status species known to be in 
the area. The survey included 100% visual coverage of the Project site, where feasible. The survey 
was conducted during the daytime, during which there is a high probability of detecting special-
status species including sign (e.g. tracks, scat, prey remains, dens, etc.).   

Representative photographs relevant to sensitive biological resources were taken to document site 
conditions at the time of the survey. Information on special-status species within a 10-mile radius 
of the Project site was obtained from the California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB).  

SURVEY RESULTS 

General Site Conditions 

The Project site is within the city of Lemoore and is bordered to the north, east, and west by 
commercial buildings, with undeveloped land to the immediate south and northwest. (Attachment 
A, Figure 3). The staging yard and equipment lay down areas will be located within the Project 
site boundary (Attachment A, Figure 3). An existing ministorage facility is located on the eastern 
half of the Project site (APN 024-051-012) and the western half is currently an open vacant lot 
with ruderal vegetation and non-native grassland (APN 024-051-013). Plant and wildlife species 
observed within the BSA include 5 plant species, two mammal species, and two bird species (Table 
1). Numerous inactive small mammal burrows were observed in the BSA. Based on their size and 
configuration, the burrows were determined to be previously utilized by California ground 
squirrels (Otospermophilus beecheyi). Gopher(s) (Geomyidae) sign including above surface 
disturbance was also observed throughout the Project site.  

TABLE 1 
Plant and Wildlife Species Observed, 

Master Storage Expansion Project, Lemoore, California 
 

Scientific Name Common Name  
Plants 
Amaranthus albus tumbleweed 
Croton setigerus turkey mullein 
Helianthus annuus common sunflower 
Salsola tragus Russian thistle 
Schismus sp.  Mediterranean grass 
Wildlife  
Geomyidae gopher 
Otospermophilus beecheyi California ground squirrel 
Quiscalus mexicanus Great-tailed grackle 
Zenaida macroura mourning dove 
* Indicates sign (i.e. tracks, scat, nest, burrow or den, calls) observed. 

 

 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 3  
 
Presence/Absence of Covered Species 

California Natural Diversity Database (CNDDB) queries were conducted prior to the site visit. 
CNDDB presents historical occurrences of covered plant species, covered mammal species, 
covered sensitive status bird species and covered reptile and amphibian species. 

Special Status and Nesting Birds 

Based on a 10-mile radius CNDDB search, special-status bird species recorded within the Project 
site vicinity included; Swainson’s hawk (Buteo swainsoni), burrowing owl (Athene cunicularia), 
tricolored blackbird (Agelaius tricolor), western snowy plover (Charadrius alexandrinus nivosus), 
and yellow-headed blackbird (Xanthocephalus xanthocephalus). No previous or current nesting 
sign for Swainson’s hawk, western snowy plover or yellow-headed blackbird were observed 
during the survey. Suitable nesting habitat (i.e. riparian or wetland) for tricolored blackbird is 
absent from the site. None of the inactive small mammal burrows showed sign of use by burrowing 
owl (i.e. whitewash, burrow size or configuration) were present on the Project site. However, 
burrowing owls could potentially be present from time to time as a transient forager. 

Special-Status Mammals 

Based on a 10-mile radius CNDDB search, special-status mammal species recorded within the 
Project site vicinity included; Fresno kangaroo rat (Dipodomys nitratoides), Tipton kangaroo rat 
(Dipodomys nitratoides nitratoides), San Joaquin kit fox (Vulpes macrotis mutica), and hoary bat 
(Lasiurus cinereus). No small mammal burrows or sign (i.e. scat, tracks, etc.) that could indicate 
the presence of Fresno or Tipton kangaroo rat species were observed during the survey. Suitable 
roosting or foraging habitat for the hoary bat is absent from the site. No San Joaquin kit fox or 
their sign (i.e. scat, tracks, or denning) was observed during the survey. However, San Joaquin kit 
fox could potentially be present from time to time as a transient forager. 

CONCLUSION 

The Project site and the surrounding area consists of developed land for commercial use or is 
currently undeveloped non-native grassland scheduled for commercial use. All Project-related 
ground disturbance will occur within the Project site. At present, the BSA provides low quality 
suitable habitat that makes it unlikely to support any special-status plant species. Therefore, the 
Project site is expected to have low potential for any special-status wildlife species to occur, except 
burrowing owl or San Joaquin kit fox that could be present from time to time as a transient forager. 
This clearance survey provides evidence that a Class 32 Categorical Exemption is supported as 
determined by the City in MSPR No. 2019-01. 

Should Project conditions change, or ground-breaking activities not commence within the next 
30 days from the day of the survey, further consultation is warranted. This biological clearance 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 4  
 
report is valid for 30 days from February 6, 2020. If you have any questions regarding this report 
or require additional information, please contact Jaymie Brauer or myself at (661) 616-2600. 

 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Karissa A. Denney     
Associate Environmental Scientist   
  
 
Attachments: 

A. Project Figures 
B.  Major Site Plan Review No. 2019-01 
C. Representative Photographs 

 
 

 
cc: file 
190002.02 
  



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 5  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A  
PROJECT FIGURES  

 
 

  



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 6  
 

 
 Figure 1 

Regional Location  
Master Storage Expansion Project 

Kings County, California 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 7  
 

 
 Figure 2 

Master Storage Expansion Project 
PLSS Map 

Kings County, California 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 8  
 

 
 Figure 3 

Master Storage Expansion Project 
Biological Study Area Map 

Kings County, California 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 9  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT B 
Major Site Plan Review No. 2019-01 

 
 
 

 
 
  



































Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 10  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT C 
REPRESENTATIVE PHOTOGRAPHS 

 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 11  
 

 
Representative Photograph 1: Project site from the center of APN 024-051-013, facing north. 

GPS coordinates: 36.283181, 119.801867 
Taken by Erica Pena on February 6, 2020. 

 

 
Representative Photograph 2: Project site from the center of APN 024-051-013, facing east. 

GPS coordinates: 36.283181, 119.801867 
Taken by Erica Pena on February 6, 2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 12  
 

 
Representative Photograph 3: Project site from the center of APN 024-051-013, facing south. 

GPS coordinates: 36.283181, 119.801867 
Taken by Erica Pena on February 6, 2020. 

 

 
Representative Photograph 4: Project site from the southeast corner of APN 024-051-013, facing west. 

GPS coordinates: 36.282479, 119.801347 
Taken by Erica Pena on February 6, 2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Biological Results– Master Storage Expansion Project  February 7, 2020 
Page 13  
 

 
Representative Photograph 5: Project site from the southeast corner of APN 024-051-013, facing north. 

GPS coordinates: 36.282479, 119.801347 
Taken by Erica Pena on February 6, 2020. 

 
Representative Photograph 6: View from the southeast corner of the BSA, facing west. 

GPS coordinates: 36.28225, 119.799095 
Taken by Erica Pena on February 6, 2020. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



                                                                            
 
 
        

City of 

LEMOORE 
CALIFORNIA 

 
711 W Cinnamon Drive  Lemoore, California 93245  (559) 924-6744  Fax (559) 924-9003 

 
 

Staff Report 
 

                  
To: Lemoore Planning Commission  Item No. 
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner  

Date: October 2, 2023 Meeting Date: October 9, 2023 
Subject: Amendment to Conditional Use Permit No. 2022-01, Modification of 

Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01, Amendment to Administrative Use 
Permit Nos. 2022-01 and 2022-02 and Tentative Parcel Map 2023-01: A 
request by Bottom Line Development (Orlando Ramirez, agent) to construct 
a convenience store with off-sale alcohol sales and drive-through food 
service, a fueling station, and a car wash facility with a washing tunnel and 
self-service vacuum area. The request also proposes dividing the site into 
two parcels. The site is located at 1224 W. Bush Street, on the southwest 
corner of Bush Street and 19th Avenue, in the City of Lemoore (APN 023-
420-018).  

  
Proposed Motions: 
 
Move to approve Resolution No. 2023-15, approving an amendment to Conditional Use 
Permit No. 2022-01, modifications to Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01, and amendments 
to Administrative Use Permit Nos. 2022-01 and 2022-02, in accordance with the findings and 
conditions in the resolution.  
 
Move to approve Resolution No. 2023-16, approving Tentative Parcel Map No. 2023-01, in 
accordance with the findings and conditions in the resolution.  
 
 
Project Proposal: 
 
The applicant is requesting approval of amendments and modifications to previously 
approved permits for two new businesses to be constructed on the southwest corner of Bush 
Street and 19th Avenue. The new businesses include:  
 

• A 4,984 sq. ft. convenience store (urban-neighborhood market) with food/deli service, 
retail sales (including some tobacco products not to exceed 15% of the retail area), 



and off-sale alcohol (Type 21, not to exceed 25% of the retail area), along with a drive-
through window and eight-pump fuel station. 
 

• A 4,761 sq. ft. mechanical car wash facility with a 115-foot-long drive-through washing 
tunnel and self-service vacuum area accommodating up to 22 vehicles. 

 
The total site area is 2.29 acres. The proposed Tentative Parcel Map (TPM) would divide the 
property into two parcels. The Major Site Plan Review covers the entire site development. 
The Conditional Use Permit (CUP) is to allow the fueling station, alcohol sales at the 
convenience store, and to allow the car wash. The Administrative Use Permits (AUP)are to 
allow the drive-through lane at the convenience store and the drive-through lane for the car 
wash. The convenience store is an allowed use in the Neighborhood Commercial zone. 
 

Applicant   Bottom Line Development (Orlando Ramirez, representative) 
 
Location   Southwest corner of Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 
Existing Land Use  Vacant 
 
APN(s)   023-420-018 
 
Total Building Size 4,984 sq. ft. convenience store and 4,761 sq. ft. car wash. 
 
Zoning   Neighborhood Commercial (NC) 
 
General Plan   Neighborhood Commercial 
 
Adjacent Land Use, Zone, and General Plan Designation   

Direction  Current Use  Zone  General Plan  

North Single-family residences RLD Low Density 
Residential 

South Retail store (Dollar 
General), vacant land NC Neighborhood 

Commercial 

East Retail stores (Best Buy 
Market), vacant land NC Neighborhood 

Commercial 

West Medical office (DaVita 
dialysis center), vacant land NC Neighborhood 

Commercial 

 
Previous Relevant Actions: 
 
When DaVita dialysis center was approved in the early 2010s, City staff required the front 
parking lot to be set back farther from Bush Street to accommodate a future street widening. 
 



City staff approved Minor Site Plan Review No. 2018-03 on August 8, 2017, for construction 
of the Dollar General retail store. A cross-access and shared parking agreement was 
recorded so that when additional commercial development occurred, the overall site area 
would operate as a single neighborhood shopping center. This agreement applies to the 
proposed car wash/convenience store site. 
 
The Planning Commission approved CUP No. 2018-03, which allowed the off-site sale of 
beer and wine at Dollar General at its April 12, 2021, meeting. 
 
On August 8, 2023, the Planning Commission approved CUP No. 2022-01 along with AUP 
Nos. 2022-01 and 2022-02 to allow a car wash, convenience store/gas station, and 
restaurant. (This is the application being amended.) 
 
Zoning/General Plan: 
 
The site is planned and zoned NC. Per the Lemoore Municipal Code, the convenience store 
is an allowed use in the NC zone. The proposed fuel pumps and on-site sale of alcohol at 
the convenience store as well as the car wash are uses that the Planning Commission can 
approve through a CUP in this zone. The convenience store drive-through lane and the car 
wash drive-through lane require the approval of AUP to ensure compliance with required 
design standards. There are no requirements for minimum lot size or minimum lot dept for 
the NC zone, therefore the TPM is consistent with the Zoning Code and General Plan.  

 
Access and Right of Way: 
 
The proposal includes one ingress and egress driveway access on Bush Street and another 
on 19th Avenue. The site plan provides on-site cross-access drive aisles to DaVita dialysis 
center to the west and to Dollar General to the south. The site plan can accommodate 
additional on-site cross-access points to the south when that area develops. There is a 
possibility in the future that the 19th Avenue access will become a right-in, right-out only 
driveway in the future if future increases in traffic on 19th Avenue require installation of a 
median. 
 
In reviewing the future street width needs and the planned improvements along Bush Street, 
it was determined that an additional 10 feet of right of way/public easement is needed for 
street widening and placement of utilities. The existing curb/gutter would be moved back, 
and a 10-foot-wide sidewalk would be installed. The traffic signal poles on the southwest 
corner of Bush Street and 19th Avenue would be relocated back to allow for more lanes at 
the street intersection. See Engineering site plan comments and plan mark-ups in the 
attached Site Plan Review comments for the specific location of the additional right of way 
being dedicated.  
 
Parking / On-site Circulation: 
 
A cross-access and shared parking agreement was signed and recorded when the Dollar 
General store was constructed. This current project’s site is covered by the agreement. This 
means that each business has the legal right for their customers to park in each other’s 
parking spaces and to drive across one property to get to another. This will ensure that the 



entire commercial area operates as a single shopping center even though it is under separate 
ownership. 
 
The proposed new development is required by the Zoning Ordinance standards to have at 
least 26 parking spaces. The site plan shows 27 spaces, not counting the fuel pump area, 
self-serve vacuum area, or loading areas. ADA compliant spaces are included. 

 
Architectural and Site Design Standards: 
 
The elevation exhibits (attached) meet the Zoning Ordinance’s architectural and design 
standards for commercial buildings. These standards are found in Section 9-5C-4 and cover 
building design and placement. 
 
Operations: 
 
The applicant submitted operational statements for both the convenience store (urban 
market) and the car wash. The market and fuel sales are proposed to operate 24 hours a 
day. The car wash is intended to operate from 8:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. 
 
Lighting: 
 
The parking lot lighting is proposed to use individual solar panels on each light. The height 
of the lights is proposed at 15 feet, which is lower than the maximum allowed 24 feet. 

 
Car Wash Noise Compatibility: 
 
For the original CUP application, the applicant submitted a decibel (dB) readings chart and 
an acoustic report from a similar recent project in Visalia to use to confirm compliance with 
the City’s noise standards. Since the carwash is now being location further away from existing 
housing than was originally planned, compliance with the noise standards will still be 
maintained. The applicable standard is found in Table 9-5B-2-B1 of the Zoning Ordinance 
and states that the maximum exterior noise level is 65 dB CNEL in residential areas and 70 
dB CNEL in commercial areas. CNEL is a weighted measurement of the average sound level 
over a 24-hour period. The calculations to obtain the measurement give more weight to sound 
generated in the evening and nighttime. 

 
Alcohol Sales Compatibility: 
 
The requested Type 21 license would allow the sale of beer, wine, and distilled spirits for 
consumption off the premises. City staff believes that the on-site sale of alcoholic beverages 
at the convenience store is considered an acceptable use as long as all activities and 
operations are in accordance with Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) conditions and ABC 
requirements for use. Compliance with the requirements of ABC is recommended as a 
condition of the approval of this CUP. Staff has included conditions of approval to improve 
safety and security related to alcohol sales. Similar conditions were approved for Dollar 
General’s alcohol sales. 
 



Zoning Ordinance Section 9-4D-2 states that establishments selling alcoholic beverages 
shall not be located within 500 feet of a park facility, school facility, or existing religious land 
uses. The Ordinance also states that only one establishment per shopping center shall sell 
alcohol. The Ordinance further states that the Planning Commission can deviate from these 
standards if the following findings are made:  
 

1. The location of the use will not result in adverse impacts on park facilities, school 
facilities, existing religious land uses, and/or existing residential land uses.  
 

2. The traffic increases associated with the use will not result in potential hazards to 
existing pedestrian and/or vehicular traffic. 

 
3. The development conforms to all applicable provisions of this Zoning Code. 

 
There are no schools, parks, or religious land uses within 500 feet, but there is housing to 
the north and south that is less than 500 feet, and Dollar General has already been approved 
to sell alcohol. Therefore, findings are required if the Planning Commission desires to 
approve the alcohol sales for the convenience store. Staff recommends making the following 
findings: 
 

1. There are no park facilities, school facilities, or existing religious land uses within 500 
feet of the site. There are existing residential uses within 500 feet to the north and to 
the south. Bush Street acts as a buffer to pedestrians on the north, and a block wall 
acts as a buffer to pedestrians on the south. With these existing buffers, the location 
of the use will not result in adverse impacts on park facilities, school facilities, existing 
religious land uses, and/or existing residential land uses. 

2. Bush Street and Bell Haven Drive are both designated arterials and are capable of 
conveying existing traffic as well as the additional traffic generated by the proposed 
site uses. Existing streets, shared parking, and a complete network of City sidewalks 
are effective in accommodating both vehicular and pedestrian traffic around the site. 
 

3. There is already one other business selling alcohol in the shopping center. This 
business operates as a grocery store, whereas the proposed use will operate more as 
a convenience store. Since the businesses are, through their product mix, marketing 
to a different type of customer, having two businesses selling alcohol in the same 
shopping center would be appropriate. 

 
4. The development conforms to all provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. The project has 

been reviewed through the City’s Major Site Plan Review process. 
 

Public Necessity or Convenience: 
 
Section 9-2B-17 requires the Planning Commission to make a finding that the public 
convenience or necessity would be served by the granting of an alcohol license. This is 
because the ratio of off-sale alcohol licenses per population in the Census tract in which the 
site is located is greater than the ratio of total licenses in Kings County to Kings County 
population. The Planning Commission shall consider, among other things, the 
recommendations of the City's Chief of Police, the Planning Director, and other departments. 



The purpose of this finding is to give the Planning Commission the opportunity to say whether 
or not the site is appropriate for the sale of alcohol and whether or not there is already an 
overconcentration of alcohol sales in the neighborhood. 
 
Besides Dollar General directly to the south, the next closest establishments selling alcohol 
for off-site consumption are located approximately one-half mile away at the intersection of 
Bush Street and 19½ Avenue. City staff is supportive of the public convenience or necessity 
determination and has included a recommended finding in the resolution. 

 
Fueling Station Development Standards: 
 
Section 9-4D-6 contains special design standards for fueling stations. The driveway is to be 
no closer than 150 feet from the nearest street intersection. The proposed Bush Street 
driveway is over 200 feet west of 19th Avenue, so this standard is being met. The other 
standard is that the canopy structures over fueling pumps are to be no higher than 17 feet 
unless specifically approved through the Site Plan Review process. The cover sheet of the 
exhibit package submitted by the applicant lists a height of 17 feet for the fuel canopy. The 
project meets all fueling station development standards.  
 
Drive Through Development Standards: 
 
Section 9-4D-4 contains special design standards for drive-through lanes. These standards 
specify certain design minimums, vehicle stacking lengths, distance from street intersections, 
location, and entrance and exit design. Both drive-throughs meet all the standards listed in 
Section 9-4D-4. Therefore, staff recommends that both Administrative Use Permits be 
approved. 
 
Environmental Assessment: 
 
The project is Categorically Exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) per Class 32 (Infill Development) in CEQA Guidelines Section 15332. 
The site is completely surrounded by existing urban development and meets the criteria for 
use of this type of Categorical Exemption. 
 
Recommended Approval Findings for CUP:  
 
A Conditional Use Permit shall be granted only when the designated approving authority 
determines that the proposed use or activity complies with certain findings. City staff 
recommends that these findings be made based upon a review of the project as described 
in this Staff Report and with the recommended conditions of approval. These findings include 
those required per Section 9-4D-2 related to proximity to parks, schools, and/or religious 
facilities, a finding of necessity or convenience, and a finding regarding the City noise 
standard. 
 

1. The proposed uses are consistent with the general plan, any applicable specific plans, 
and all applicable provisions of this title. The proposed uses are either allowed or 
conditional uses in the NC zone. The project has been reviewed through the City’s Major 



Site Plan Review process and found to be consistent with the applicable City ordinances 
and development standards. 
 

2. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for, will not, under the 
circumstances of the particular case (location, size, design, and operating 
characteristics), be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general 
welfare of persons residing or working in the neighborhood of such use or to the general 
welfare of the City. The site has been planned for commercial uses and is part of a 
larger neighborhood shopping center. A cross-access and shared parking agreement is 
in place so that the project site will operate efficiently as a part of the larger shopping 
center. 

 
3. The site of the proposed use is physically suitable for the type, density, and intensity of 

the use and related structures being proposed. The site is physically able to support the 
use. ABC may require the applicant to make physical changes to conform to their 
standards if needed. 

 
4. It will not be contrary to the specific intent clauses, development regulations, or 

performance standards established for the zoning district in which it is located. The 
proposed use and related structures are compatible with other land uses, transportation 
patterns, and service facilities in the vicinity.  

 
5. Based on the estimated decibels of noise generated by the car wash machinery, the 

decibel community noise equivalent level (dB CNEL) will be less than the City’s 
maximum standard in both commercial and residential areas. 

 
6. There are no park facilities, school facilities, or existing religious land uses within 500 

feet of the site. There are existing residential uses within 500 feet to the north and to 
the south. Bush Street acts as a buffer to pedestrians on the north, and a block wall acts 
as a buffer to pedestrians on the south. With these existing buffers, the location of the 
use will not result in adverse impacts on park facilities, school facilities, existing religious 
land uses, and/or existing residential land uses. 

 
7. Bush Street and 19th Avenue are both designated arterials capable of conveying existing 

traffic as well as the additional traffic generated by the proposed site uses. Existing 
streets, shared parking, and a complete network of City sidewalks are effective in 
accommodating both vehicular and pedestrian traffic around the site. 

 
8. There is already one other business selling alcohol in the shopping center. This 

business operates as a grocery store, whereas the proposed use will operate more as 
a convenience store. Since the businesses are, through their product mix, marketing to 
a different type of customer, having two businesses selling alcohol in the same shopping 
center would be appropriate. 

 
9. The development conforms to all provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. The project has 

been reviewed through the City’s Major Site Plan Review process. 
 



10. The public convenience or necessity would be served by the granting of the CUP and 
ABC license. 

 
11. The project is Categorically Exempt from the requirements of the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per Class 32 (Infill Development) found in CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15332. 

 
Recommended Conditions of Approval for CUP and AUPs: 
 
Staff recommends the following conditions be applied to the approval of the Conditional Use 
Permit and Administrative Use Permits: 

 
1. The site shall be developed consistent with the site plan, floor plans, elevation exhibits, 

and City staff comments in modified Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 and applicable 
with development standards found in the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. The project applicant shall dedicate additional right of way or easement along Bush 

Street, in accordance with the Major Site Plan Review comments, and shall coordinate 
with the City regarding the relocation of traffic signals. 

 
3. Drive-through lanes shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the site plan 

and with Zoning Ordinance Section 9-4D-4. 
 

4. The existing cross-access and shared parking agreement encumbering the site shall 
not be amended unless an amendment to this Conditional Use Permit is first approved. 

 
5. The operation shall be conducted consistent with this Conditional Use Permit and the 

submitted operations statements. Major deviations from the approvals shall first require 
approval of an amendment to this Conditional Use Permit. 
 

6. To sell alcohol, the convenience store shall obtain and maintain a valid license from 
ABC. A change to a license type that is deemed more intensive than a Type 21 license 
shall require an amendment to this Conditional Use Permit. 

 
7. The establishment shall comply with all federal and state laws regarding the sale of 

alcohol. 
 

8. Business hours and the sale of alcohol shall comply with ABC regulations. 
 

9. All subsequent uses must meet the requirements found in Section 9-5B-2 and 9-5B-4 
of the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance related to noise, odor, vibration, lighting, and 
maintenance. 

 
10. The time limits and potential extensions and expiration of this Conditional Use Permit 

are established per Section 9-2A-9 of the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance. 
 



Recommended Approval Findings for TPM:  
 
A Tentative Parcel Map shall be granted only when the designated approving authority 
determines that the proposed use or activity complies with certain findings. City staff 
recommends that these findings be made based upon a review of the project as described 
in this Staff Report and with the recommended conditions of approval.  
 

1. That the proposed map, together with the provisions for its design and improvement, is 
consistent with the general plan or any applicable specific plan, or other applicable 
provisions of the Municipal Code. 
 

2. That the site is physically suitable for the type of development. The location of the new 
lot line has been reviewed by the City Surveyor, City Engineer, and City Building Official, 
and found to be acceptable. 
 

3. That the site is physically suitable for the proposed density of development. The site 
has ample area to accommodate the proposed uses while also allowing area to comply 
with other requirements such as parking and access. 
 

4. That the subdivision or the proposed improvements are not likely to cause substantial 
environmental damage or substantially and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their 
habitat. 
 

5. That the subdivision or the type of improvements along with applicable conditions of 
approval will not cause serious public health problems. 
 

6. That the subdivision or the type of improvements will not conflict with easements, 
acquired by the public at large, for access through or use of, property within the 
proposed subdivision. The Preliminary Title Report identifies easements which must be 
shown on the final parcel map but do not prohibit or conflict with the proposed 
development of the site once the final parcel map is recorded. 
 

7. Subject to section 66474.4 of the subdivision map act, that the land is not subject to a 
contract entered into pursuant to the California Land Conservation Act of 1965 
(commencing with section 51200 of the Government Code). 

Recommended Conditions of Approval for TPM: 
 
Staff recommends the following conditions be applied to the approval of Tentative Parcel 
Map: 

 
1. The tentative map shall comply with City Surveyor and City Engineer comments. 

2.  The Final Parcel Map shall provide the document numbers of existing cross-access 
agreements, on its face. 
 

3. Bush Street and other improvements within the City right of way will be required with 
development of the site per approved SPR 2022-01 and Modification to SPR 2022-01. 



 
4. The Final Parcel Map and associated proposed improvements shall conform to the 

Subdivision Map Act, the City of Lemoore’s Subdivision Ordinance and Standard 
Improvements Drawings. They shall also conform to comments made by the Public 
Works/City Engineering Department and the City Surveyor. 

5. The Tentative Parcel Map shall expire 24 months following Planning Commission 
approval unless a final map is filed. 

 
Attachments: 
 
Location Map 
Resolution for Revised CUP 2022-01, AUP 2022-01 and 2022-02, and Major SPR 2022-01 
Resolution for Tentative Parcel Map 2023-01 
Site Plan 
Tentative Plan Map 
Elevation Exhibits 
Operational Statement – Urban Market 
Operational Statement – Car Wash 
CEQA Categorical Exemption with backup checklist  



Location Map 
Revised CUP No. 2022-01 

 
 

 
 

 

4855-5414-2596, v. 2 

SITE 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
APPROVING MODIFICATIONS TO MAJOR SITE PLAN REVIEW NO. 2022-01, AN AMENDMENT TO 

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 2022-01, AND AN AMENDMENT TO ADMINISTRATIVE USE 
PERMIT NO. 2022-01 AND ADMINISTRATIVE USE PERMIT NO. 2022-02 TO ALLOW A 

CONVENIENCE STORE WITH OFF-SALE ALCOHOL SALES AND DRIVE-THROUGH, AN EIGHT-
PUMP FUEL STATION, AND A CAR WASH FACILITY WITH A WASHING TUNNEL AND SELF-

SERVICE VACUUM AREA LOCATED AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF BUSH STREET 
AND 19TH AVENUE IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE (APN 023-420-018)   

 
 
At a Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore duly called and held on 
October 9, 2023, at 5:30 p.m. on said day, it was moved by Commissioner ______________, 
seconded by Commissioner ______________, and carried that the following Resolution be 
adopted:  
 

WHEREAS, Bottom Line Development (Orlando Ramirez, representative) has requested 
an amendment to Conditional Use Permit No. 2022-01, modifications to Major Site Plan Review 
No. 2022-01, and amendment to Administrative Use Permit Nos. 2022-01 and 2022-02 
for construction of a convenience store with off-sale alcohol sales and drive-through, an eight-
pump fuel station, a car wash facility with washing tunnel, self-service vacuum area, and a drive-
through, located at 1224 W. Bush Street, on the southwest corner of Bush Street and 19th 
Avenue, within the City of Lemoore (APN 023-420-018); and 
 

WHEREAS, the site is 2.29 acres in size and the zoning on the parcel is Neighborhood 
Commercial (NC); and 
 

WHEREAS, in the Neighborhood Commercial zone, the convenience store and restaurant 
are allowed uses, and the fuel pumps and on-site sale of alcohol at the convenience store, as 
well as the car wash, are uses that can be approved by the Planning Commission through a 
conditional use permit (CUP). The convenience store drive-through lane and car wash drive-
through lane require approval of administrative use permits to ensure compliance with required 
design standards; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposal is an amendment to a previously approved project that was 

approved by the Planning Commission on October 8, 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, it has been determined that the project is Categorically Exempt from the 

requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) per Class 32 (Existing Facilities) 
in CEQA Guidelines Section 15332; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Lemoore Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing at its 
October 9, 2023, meeting. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the City of 
Lemoore hereby makes the following findings regarding an amendment to Conditional Use Permit 
No. 2022-01, modifications to Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01, and amendments to 
Administrative Use Permit Nos. 2022-01 and 2022-02 based on facts detailed in the October 9, 
2023, Staff Report, which is hereby incorporated by reference, as well as the evidence and 
testimony presented during the Public Hearing: 

1. The proposed uses are consistent with the General plan, any applicable specific plans, 
and all applicable provisions of this title. The proposed uses are either allowed or 



conditional uses in the NC zone. The project has been reviewed through the City’s Major 
Site Plan Review process and found to be consistent with the applicable City ordinances 
and development standards. 

2. The establishment, maintenance, or operation of the use applied for will not, under the 
circumstances of the particular case (location, size, design, and operating characteristics), 
be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare of persons 
residing or working in the neighborhood of such use or to the general welfare of the City. 
The site has been planned for commercial uses and is part of a larger neighborhood 
shopping center. A cross-access and shared parking agreement is in place so that the 
project site will operate efficiently as a part of the larger shopping center. 

3. The site of the proposed use is physically suitable for the type, density, and intensity of 
the use and related structures being proposed. The site is physically able to support the 
use. The applicant may be required by Alcoholic Beverage Control (ABC) to make physical 
changes to conform to their standards if needed. 

4. It will not be contrary to the specific intent clauses, development regulations, or 
performance standards established for the zoning district in which it is located. The 
proposed use and related structures are compatible with other land uses, transportation 
patterns, and service facilities in the vicinity.  

5. Based on the estimated decibels of noise generated by the car wash machinery, the 
decibel community noise equivalent level (dB CNEL) will be less than the City’s maximum 
standard in both commercial and residential areas. 

6. There are no park facilities, school facilities, or existing religious land uses within 500 feet 
of the site. There are existing residential uses within 500 feet to the north and to the south. 
Bush Street acts as a buffer to pedestrians on the north, and a block wall acts as a buffer 
to pedestrians on the south. With these existing buffers, the location of the use will not 
result in adverse impacts on park facilities, school facilities, existing religious land uses, 
and/or existing residential land uses. 

7. Bush Street and 19th Avenue are both designated arterials capable of conveying existing 
traffic as well as the additional traffic generated by the proposed site uses. Existing streets, 
shared parking, and a complete network of City sidewalks are effective in accommodating 
both vehicular and pedestrian traffic around the site. 

8. There is already one other business selling alcohol in the shopping center, which operates 
as a grocery store, whereas the proposed use will operate more as a convenience store. 
Since the businesses are, through their product mix, marketing to a different type of 
customer, having two businesses selling alcohol in the same shopping center would be 
appropriate. 

9. The development conforms to all provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. The project has 
been reviewed through the City’s Major Site Plan Review process. 

10. The public convenience or necessity would be served by the granting of the CUP and ABC 
license. 

11. The project is Categorically Exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) per Class 32 (Infill Development) found in CEQA Guidelines Section 
15332. 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore 
hereby approves an amendment to Conditional Use Permit No. 2022-01, modifications to Major 
Site Plan Review No. 2022-01, and amendments to Administrative Use Permit Nos. 2022-01 and 
2022-02 subject to the following conditions:  
 

1. The site shall be developed consistent with the site plan, floor plans, elevation exhibits, 
and City staff comments in modified Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 and applicable 
with development standards found in the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance. 

2. The project applicant shall dedicate an additional right of way along Bush Street, in 
accordance with the Major Site Plan Review comments, and shall coordinate with the City 
regarding the relocation of traffic signals. 

3. Drive-through lanes shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the site plan 
and with Zoning Ordinance Section 9-4D-4. 

4. The existing cross-access and shared parking agreement encumbering the site shall not 
be amended unless an amendment to this CUP is first approved. 

5. The operation shall be conducted consistent with this CUP and the submitted operations 
statements. Major deviations from the approvals shall first require approval of an 
amendment to this CUP. 

6. To sell alcohol, the convenience store shall obtain and maintain a valid license from ABC. 
A change to a license type that is deemed more intensive than a Type 21 license shall 
require an amendment to this CUP. 

7. The establishment shall comply with all federal and state laws regarding the sale of 
alcohol. 

8. Business hours and the sale of alcohol shall comply with ABC regulations. 

9. All subsequent uses must meet the requirements found in Section 9-5B-2 and 9-5B-4 of 
the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance related to noise, odor, vibration, lighting, and 
maintenance. 

10. The time limits and potential extensions and expiration of this CUP are established per 
Section 9-2A-9 of the City of Lemoore Zoning Ordinance. 

Passed and adopted at a Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore 
held on October 9, 2023, by the following votes: 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSTAINING: 
ABSENT: 

 
 
APPROVED: 

 
 

      
Mitchell Couch, Chairperson 
 

 



ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Planning Commission Secretary 
4892-4505-5108, v. 2 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
APPROVING TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 2023-01 TO DIVIDE 

A 2.36-ACRE PARCEL INTO TWO PARCELS LOCATED AT 1224 W. BUSH STREET 
IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE (APN 023-420-018) 

  
 
At a Regular Meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore duly called and held on 
October 9, 2023, at 5:30 p.m. on said day, it was moved by Commissioner ______________, 
seconded by Commissioner ______________, and carried that the following Resolution be 
adopted:  
 

WHEREAS, Bottom Line Development has requested approval of a tentative parcel map 
to allow the division of a 2.36-acre property into two parcels located at 1224 W. Bush Street in 
the City of Lemoore (APN 023-420-018); and 
 

WHEREAS, the General Plan designates the parcel as Neighborhood Commercial (NC); 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Zoning on the parcel is Neighborhood Commercial (NC); and 

 
WHEREAS, the project has been determined to be Categorically Exempt from the 

requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines per Section 15332 
(Class 32 – Infill Development); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Lemoore Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing at its 
October 9, 2023, meeting. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the City of 
Lemoore hereby makes the following findings regarding the proposed tentative parcel map based 
on facts detailed in the October 9, 2023, staff report, which is hereby incorporated by reference, 
as well as the evidence and testimony presented during the Public Hearing: 

1. That the proposed map, together with the provisions for its design and improvement, 
is consistent with the General Plan or any applicable specific plan, or other applicable 
provisions of the City Municipal Code. 

 
2. That the site is physically suitable for the type of development. The location of the new 

lot line has been reviewed by the City Surveyor, City Engineer, and City Building 
Official, and found to be acceptable. 

 
3. That the site is physically suitable for the proposed density of development. The site 

has ample area to accommodate the proposed uses while also allowing the area to 
comply with other requirements such as parking and access. 

 
4. That the subdivision or the proposed improvements are not likely to cause substantial 

environmental damage or substantially and avoidably injure fish or wildlife or their 
habitat. 

 
5. That the subdivision or the type of improvements along with applicable conditions of 

approval will not cause serious public health problems. 
 



6. That the subdivision or the type of improvements will not conflict with easements, 
acquired by the public at large, for access through or use of, property within the 
proposed subdivision. The Preliminary Title Report identifies easements which must 
be shown on the final parcel map but do not prohibit or conflict with the proposed 
development of the site once the final parcel map is recorded. The site is encumbered 
by an existing cross-access and parking agreement with parcels to the west and south. 

 
7. Subject to section 66474.4 of the Subdivision Map Act, that the land is not subject to 

a contract entered into pursuant to the California Land Conservation Act of 1965 
(commencing with section 51200 of the Government Code).  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore finds 
that the project is Categorically Exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines per Section 15332 (Class 32 – Infill Development), and approves 
Tentative Parcel Map No. 2023-01 subject to the following conditions:  
 

1. The tentative parcel map shall comply with City Surveyor and City Engineer 
comments. 

2. The Final Parcel Map shall provide the document numbers of existing cross-access 
agreements on its face. 

3. Bush Street and other improvements within the City right of way will be required with 
development of the site per approved SPR 2022-01 and Modification to SPR 2022-01. 

4. The Final Parcel Map and associated proposed improvements shall conform to the 
Subdivision Map Act, the City of Lemoore’s Subdivision Ordinance and Standard 
Improvements Drawings. They shall also conform to comments made by the Public 
Works/City Engineering Department and the City Surveyor. 

5. The Tentative Parcel Map shall expire 24 months following Planning Commission 
approval unless a final map is filed. 

 
Passed and adopted at a Special Meeting of the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore 
held on October 9, 2023, by the following votes: 
 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSTAINING: 
ABSENT: 

APPROVED: 
 
 

      
Mitchell Couch, Chairperson 

 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Planning Commission Secretary 
4858-2355-1364, v. 2 





D

TENTATIVE PARCEL MAP NO. 2023-01
1345 W BUSH ST, LEMOORE, CA 93245

(A.P.N. 023-420-018)

SECTION LINE

LOT LINE

ADJACENT PARCEL LINE

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

PARCEL (PROPOSED)

SUBJECT PARCEL BOUNDARY

SETBACK LINE

EXISTING STORM DRAIN MANHOLE

EXISTING ELEC. VAULT

EXISTING TRANSFORMER ON CONC PAD

EXISTING DIKE

EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

EXISTING SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

EXISTING LIGHT POLE

JAY VIRK HOLDINGS, LLC
P.O. BOX 1095
CLOVIS, CA 93613
(559) 286-6205

PETER MOUA, PE 61918, LS 8413
5699 N. 7TH STREET
FRESNO, CA 93710
(559)288-3217

1345 W BUSH ST.
LEMOORE, CA 93245

ZONE: NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL (NC)

APN/PARCEL ID(s): 023-420-018

FLOOD ZONE: ZONE X - AREA DETERMINED TO BE OUTSIDE THE
0.2% ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD PLAIN

FEMA FIRM MAP: 06031C0170D , EFF. 9/16/2015

PLANNED LAND USE: NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL

EXISTING USE: VACANT / BARE LAND

SOURCE OF WATER SUPPLY: CITY OF LEMOORE

SOURCE OF SEWER DISPOSAL: CITY OF LEMOORE

SOURCE OF STORM DRAIN SERVICE: CITY OF LEMOORE

THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW IS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE, COUNTY OF KINGS, STATE OF
CALIFORNIA AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

PARCEL 2 AS SHOWN OF CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE NO. 2009-01 AS EVIDENCED BY DOCUMENT RECORDED
JULY 30, 2010 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 1012849 OF OFFICIAL RECORDS, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS
FOLLOWS.

ALL THAT PORTION OF PARCELS 1 AND 2 AS DELINEATED ON PARCEL MAP 2006-02, FILED ON APRIL 3RD, 2007 IN
BOOK 18 OF PARCEL MAPS AT PAGE 47, RECORDS OF KINGS COUNTY, CALIFORNIA MORE PARTICULARLY
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT THE POINT WHICH BEARS SOUTH 89°45'58" EAST 144.00 FEET FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER
OF SAID PARCEL 2, THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID PARCELS 1 AND 2, SOUTH 89°45'58" EAST
440.02 FEET; THENCE ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL 1 THE FOLLOWING TWO (2) COURSES:

1. ALONG A TANGENT CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A RADIUS OF 30.00 FEET, THROUGH AN INCLUDED
ANGLE OF 90°16'32", AN ARC DISTANCE OF 47.27 FEET;

2. THENCE SOUTH 00°30'34" WEST 189.86 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID PARCEL 1; THENCE
ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID PARCELS 1 AND 2, NORTH 89°45'58" WEST 469.10 FEET; THENCE
LEAVING THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL 2, NORTH 00°14'02" EAST 220.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF
BEGINNING.

1.18 ACRE
(NET AREA)

1.18 ACRE
(NET AREA)

SITE

AC
AC

IA
 D

R

NATIONAL DR

W BUSH ST

S 
19

TH
 S

T

ACACIA
 D

R

EXISTING TRAFFIC SIGNAL POLE & PEDESTRIAN BUTTON

EXISTING PULL BOX

EXISTING DRAIN INLET

MAY 11, 2023

MASS INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC
1788 E. NILES
FRESNO, CA 93720
(559) 862-6056

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89° 45' 58"W  144.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
235.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
204.87'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89° 45' 58"W  144.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
c Bedesen-Cardoza-Andrews Inc.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c Bedesen-Cardoza-Andrews Inc.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE 1" =

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
100'

AutoCAD SHX Text
50'

AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOT TO SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
KEYNOTES:

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
023-420-017 GRANT DEED DOC. 1110031

AutoCAD SHX Text
OWNER(S):

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE ADDRESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT INFO

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL 1 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL 2 

AutoCAD SHX Text
023-420-022 GRANT DEED DOC. 1903180

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST BUSH STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH 19TH AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
023-420-023 GRANT DEED DOC. 2222252

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NE CORNER OF NE   OF SECTION 9, 14 OF SECTION 9, T.19 S., R.20 E., M.D.B.& M.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EX. PARKING LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIVIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. C61918

















OPERATIONAL STATEMENT 

URBAN MARKET 

March 27, 2023 

 

APPLICANT:   Bottom Line Development  

 

PROPERTY OWNER: Jay Virk 

 

REPRESENTATIVE:  Orlando Ramirez 

 

PROJECT LOCATION: SWC of Bush Avenue and 19th, Lemoore, CA (APN# 023-420-

018). 

 

URBAN MARKET AND FUEL SALES REQUEST 

In advance, thank you for taking the time to consider our upcoming project for the southwest 

corner of Bush and 19th.  We have secured the property and are ready to move forward with an 

exciting proposal we think you will consider a positive use of the site that will be a welcomed part 

of the Lemoore community.   

 

THE PROPOSAL: 

A small family friendly deli and marketplace where folks can grab food on the way to and from 

work and school.  Our intent is to create an urban-neighborhood market that includes all the 

necessities within an inviting environment for parents to make a quick stop to grab sandwiches 

and local produce, and where students can drop in to pick up breakfast or lunch specials with 

meal options they can afford.  An additional amenity to the use is the availability to serve fresh-

pressed juices for a healthy alternative to typical beverages.  

 

The building will encompass a floor area of approximately 4,984 square feet and will include a 

drive-thru component.  The attached site plan provides the proposed area and includes internal 

circulation and parking.   

 

FUEL SALES: 

As fuel sales are permitted by right, we anticipate the placement of eight (8) multi-product 

dispensers (MPD).   



TOBACCO AND ALCOHOL: 

We are requesting approval for the sale of tobacco products that will not be self-service.   

Beer/wine/spirits are also requested as part of the use, but alcohol sales will not exceed 25% of 

the retail area for the building. Additionally, we don’t intend to have the sale of shooters or half-

pint containers of alcohol.  

 

HOURS OF OPERATION: 

The Market, Drive-thru(s), Fuel Sales will operate 24 hours a day. 

 

CONCLUSION: 

The “market” will have many components that stray from the typical convenience store layout and 

use.  The urban-market experience is catered towards the working family and provides students 

seeking an alternative to typical fast-food to start their day or for a great lunch option at an 

affordable price.  I hope this provides you enough of a description of our vision on this project.  

With approval, we will move forward with the required ABC License.  Please feel free to contact 

me with any request for additional information.  

   

 

 

 

 



OPERATIONAL STATEMENT 
Carwash 

March 27, 2023 
 

APPLICANT:   Bottom Line Development  
 
PROPERTY OWNER: Jay Virk 
 
REPRESENTATIVE:  Orlando Ramirez 
 
PROJECT LOCATION: SWC of Bush Avenue and 19th, Lemoore, CA (APN# 023-420-

018). 
 
REQUEST 
The applicant is requesting the development of a drive-through carwash facility on property 
located at the SWC of Bush Avenue and 19th Street.  
 
SITE LAYOUT 
The Project site is located on the west end of an approximate 2.36-acre parcel that is situated 
directly at the SWC of Bush Avenue and 19th Street, in the City of Lemoore.  The proposed 
Project is bound by a medical facility on the west, developed commercial on the north and east, 
and undeveloped commercially designated property on the south.  The proposed mechanical 
carwash facility has an overall building area of approximately 4,761 s.f.  that is inclusive of a 115-
foot-long washing tunnel and equipment, storage and staff areas. The site also includes self-
service vehicle vacuum areas with associated parking. The Project will be accessible from both 
Bush Avenue on the north and 19th Street on the east.  Additionally, the proposed car wash is 
part of a larger-scaled development which will include cross-access opportunities within the site.  
 
PARKING 
Development of the site will provide 23-plus parking/vacuum stalls.   
 
HOURS OF OPERATIONS 
The facility will operate Monday through Sunday from 7am to 9pm.  
 
EMPLOYEES 
It is estimated that the facility would require up to 15-20 employees in varying shifts with 
approximately 3 employees at any given time.  
 
LIGHTING 
Parking-lot and exterior lighting will be provided as necessary for public safety purposes and will 
meet the Lighting Standards provided by the City of Lemoore.  Lighting fixtures will be 
architecturally integrated with the character of the main structure and surrounding area. Site 
lighting will also be appropriately shielded including cut-off lenses that avoid light spillage and 
glare onto any existing commercial/residential properties and the public right-of-way.  Overall, 



development of the site and any required on-site lighting will comply with City of Lemoore 
Municipal Code. 
 
 
NOISE ABATEMENT 
The drive-through carwash facility is expected to generate noise from its operations. The primary 
sources of noise generated would likely be from the washing and drying systems of the facility. 
Additional noise sources can be attributed to the vacuum system however vacuum noises are 
expected to be less than significant. Although noise generation is inevitable from a facility such 
as this, with its location and proximity to existing surrounding uses, the expected noise levels 
would not be negatively impactful to the public. The Project site is located within commercially 
designated property with development that is compatible with the proposed facility. Additionally, 
the facility is directly adjacent to Bush Avenue, which is identified as a primary source of existing 
noise in the City’s General Plan. The City’s general plan also identifies noise-sensitive land uses 
including residential uses, schools, commercial, etc. which are not adversely affected by the 
Project.  Moreover, the site will be designed in accordance to the City’s development standards 
inclusive of building setbacks and landscaping to provide additional barriers/ separation.  
Additionally, the proposed building is configured to minimize noise impacts to the adjacent office 
uses. Lastly, the building’s orientation was carefully considered so that the wash system’s air 
blowers would orient towards Bush Avenue, further minimizing any potential noise concerns.  
Mechanical carwashes create a decibel noise rating of 78. 5 and 78.5 respectively, at a distance 
of 40 feet.  The proposed approximate 40-foot distance proposed from the entry and the over 70-
foot setback from the nearest building on the west, further minimizes and negates any noise 
concerns.   Aggregately, these factors are significant in considering the project exempt from any 
potential noise studies and analysis.  Based on these factors, the Project would not cause 
substantial noise impacts, therefore exempting the Project subject to CEQA Code Section 15332.  
The Project is generally located in the center of a greater commercial corridor that when 
developed, will run from 19 ½ om the west to 19th Street on the east Avenue.  The nearest 
residential property, a single-family development, is located to the north across Bush Avenue 
approximately 100-feet away.   
 
TRAFFIC 
 
Carwash facilities experience the most traffic on Saturdays and peak periods can vary between 
10:00 AM to 1:00 PM and 3:00 PM to 5:00 PM, respectively.  Generally, service demand rates at 
these specific carwash facilities are 20 percent higher on Saturdays than on a typical weekday.  
Peak hour demand rate on Saturday is generally 20% higher than on weekdays.  Based on a 
peak rate number of 14.2 peak trips per 1,000 sf gross floor area (4,000 sf. building), anticipated 
peak trips will not exceed 62 vehicle peak hour demand rate and is anticipated to generally occur 
between 3:00 and 4:15 pm.  Trip generation rates for the proposed project was gathered through 
analysis of the 10th Edition Trip Generation Manual published by the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE). Subsequently, the project includes site improvements to the project area that 
upon full buildout, the carwash is anticipated to be used by 300-400 vehicles per day.   



The carwash design includes two (2) pay aisles and a combined total storage (que) capacity of 
approximately 25 vehicles, provides adequate storage capacity that exceeds typical queuing 
demand during the busiest day of week. With a storage capacity for 25 vehicles, the potential 
impacts to the public street, common shared drive aisles, and pedestrian walkways would be 
minimized if not eliminated.   

 



  

 
 
 

City of 

LEMOORE 
CALIFORNIA 

 
711 W. Cinnamon Drive ● Lemoore, CA 93245 ● Planning (559) 924-6744 

Community Development Department 
 

Site Plan Review  
 
 
 

To: Ramirez Planning and Moua Enterprise  
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner  
Date: September 14, 2023  
Subject: Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 revised: a request by Ramirez 

Planning and Moua Enterprise for a modification to previously approved 
SPR 2022-01 for a fuel station, convenience store with alcohol and tobacco 
sales, and drive-thru carwash facility.  The site is located on the southwest 
corner of Bush Street and 19th Avenue. (023-420-018). 
 

 

☐ Site Plan is acceptable as proposed. All applicable comments are marked with an ☒.   
Proceed to submittal for :  

☐ Site Plan requires minor changes that are described in the attached Department 
comments, mark-ups, and/or checklists.  All applicable comments are marked with 
an ☒. The Site Plan does not need to be reviewed again. Make described changes 
and proceed to submittal for: 

☒ Site Plan requires changes that are described in the attached Department checklists.  
All applicable comments are marked with an ☒.  Please make revisions and 
resubmit. 

Zoning/General Plan: Neighborhood Commercial (NC). The project requires an 
amendment to the previously approved conditional use 
permit to approve the revised site plan and modify the 
previous conditions. The project also requires a parcel map 
to divide the site into two parcels. 

 
Environmental Review: Categorical Exemption - Infill 

Attached Comments: Planning Comments 
 Engineering Comments 
 Public Works Comments 
 City Surveyor Comments 
  



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS   
 SITE PLAN NO: Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility. 
 LOCATION:   2.29-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Bottom-Line (Orlando Ramirez) Contractor 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Lemoore 19th Avenue Partners, LP (John Glikbarg) 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 1 of 6 

PLANNING 

The following comments are applicable when checked. Comments in italics are specific to the project. 

 

Project Information 

 General Plan Land Use Element land use designation(s): Neighborhood Commercial 

 General Plan Circulation Element adjacent street(s): Bush Street and 19th Avenue are both arterial streets. 

 Zoning designation: Neighborhood Commercial (NC) 

 Proposed land use:  Car Wash, Gas Station / Convenience Store and Café. 

    Allowed use       Not allowed use    Requires an amendment to the approved CUP 
(conditional use permit) for car wash, fueling station and alcohol sales and an AUP (administrative use permit) 
for drive through.   

 

Site Plan Comments 

Revisions to the site plan are required if Revise is checked. 

 

Site Area Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Site area per 
dwelling units 
(minimum)  

   

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (minimum)    103,106.5 sf 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot size (maximum)     

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot width 
(minimum)    469’-0” 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Lot width 
(maximum)   469’-0” 

 

Building Setback, Height, and 
Coverage Standards (Chapter 9-5A) Required Proposed Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Front Building 
Setback (minimum) 15 feet 

 

25’-0” 
 



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS   
 SITE PLAN NO: Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility. 
 LOCATION:   2.29-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Bottom-Line (Orlando Ramirez) Contractor 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Lemoore 19th Avenue Partners, LP (John Glikbarg) 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 2 of 6 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Interior Side 
Building Setback 
(minimum) 

0 feet 
 

5’-8” 
 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Street Side Building 
Setback (minimum) 

10 feet 
 

21’-0” 
 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Rear Building 
Setback (minimum) 10 feet 

 

12’-6”  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Separation Between 
Buildings 
(minimum)  

10 feet 
In excess of 
required 10 
feet 

 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Height (maximum) 30 feet 26 feet for 
buildings 

Per 9-4D-6 C2, gas canopy max. 
height is 17 feet unless higher 
approved with CUP.  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(minimum)  .10 .23  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Floor Area Ratio 
(maximum) .60 .23  

 

Development Standards       
(Chapter 9-5B) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Noise, Odor, and 
Vibration Standards 

9-5B-2  

65 db interior, 70 db exterior 
 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Property and Utility 
Improvements 

As per Section 9-5B-3 of the 
municipal code 

Coordinate with ATT planned 
installation. (see docs) 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Outdoor Lighting 
Standards 

As per Section 9-5B-4 of the 
municipal code. 15-foot high 
solar lights proposed. 

Meet all Standards in Section 9-5B-
4 of the municipal code. Maximum 
height is 24 feet. 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Fences/Wall 
Standards    

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Screening Standards  As per Section 9-5B-6 of the 
municipal code  



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS   
 SITE PLAN NO: Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility. 
 LOCATION:   2.29-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Bottom-Line (Orlando Ramirez) Contractor 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Lemoore 19th Avenue Partners, LP (John Glikbarg) 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 3 of 6 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Urban-Rural Edge 
Standards   

 

Architectural and Site Design 
Standards (Chapter 9-5C) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Concepts  As per Section 9-5C-2 of the 
municipal code  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Residential 
Projects 

  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Commercial and 
Industrial Projects 

As per Section 9-5C-4 of the 
municipal code 

City Engineer to review vehicular 
circulation patterns and ADA 
compliance for walks, crossings and 
paths of travel. 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Design Standards 
for Big Box Stores    

 

 

Landscape Standards           
(Chapter 9-5D1) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Landscape 
Standards  

Minimum 15 ft. Landscape 
Buffer along Connector and 
Arterial frontages (Bush 
Street and 19th Avenue) 

Meet all Landscape Standards in 
Section 9-5D1-2. Unused areas.  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Landscape Care and 
Maintenance 

 Meet all Landscape Maintenance 
Standards in Section 9-5D1-3 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Tree Preservation   

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Street Trees  Bush Street frontage and 
19th Avenue frontage 

Street Trees shall be selected from 
the approved Street Tree list in 
Table 9-5D-5-A1 of the municipal 
code 

 

Parking and Loading Standards 
(Chapter 9-5E) Required Proposed Notes 



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS   
 SITE PLAN NO: Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility. 
 LOCATION:   2.29-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Bottom-Line (Orlando Ramirez) Contractor 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Lemoore 19th Avenue Partners, LP (John Glikbarg) 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 4 of 6 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Number of off-street 
Parking Spaces  21 27 

Convenience Store 4,984 sf  

3.5 spaces per 1,000 sf for 
convenience / retail.  

(3.5 x 4.98 = 17.4) 

Car Wash 4,761 sf (1.5 x 4.76 
= 7.14)  

6 Employee stalls & 1 
Accessible Employee stall, 15 
Vacuum Stalls & 1 Accessible 
Vacuum stall.  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Parking Design 
Standards 

As per Section 
9-5E-5 of the 
municipal code 

  

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

Loading Design 
Standards  

As per Section 
9-5E-6 of the 
municipal code 

  

 

 

 

  Downtown Standards (Chapter 9-6) 

  Mixed Use Standards (Chapter 9-7) 

  Overlay Zones (Chapter 9-9) Required Notes 

  Acceptable   
  Revise     
  N/A 

  
 

 

Entitlements Required 

 Major Site Plan Review is required for this project. 

 A Use Permit is required for this project.  Amendment to approved CUP for car wash, fueling station, and 
alcohol sales. 

 A Zone Variance is required for this project.   

 A Tentative Subdivision Map is required for this project.   

 A Tentative Parcel Map is required for this project.   

 A Lot Line Adjustment is required for this project. 

 A Zone Change is required for this project.   

 A General Plan Amendment is required for this project.   



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS   
 SITE PLAN NO: Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility. 
 LOCATION:   2.29-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Bottom-Line (Orlando Ramirez) Contractor 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Lemoore 19th Avenue Partners, LP (John Glikbarg) 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 5 of 6 

 Other discretionary action required for this project:  Administrative Use Permit for drive-through.  

 

CEQA Document Required (This is a preliminary determination that will be finalized when the project 
application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Exempt from CEQA - Ministerial Exemption: Section 21080(b)(1); 15268 

 Exempt from CEQA - Categorical Exemption Section 15332 – In-Fill Exemption 

 Exempt from CEQA - Statutory Exemption Section  

 Negative Declaration or Mitigated Negative Declaration   

 Environmental Impact Report   

 

Environmental Technical Documents Required to back up CEQA document (This is a preliminary 
determination that will be finalized when the project application is fully submitted and deemed complete.) 

 Air Impact Analysis required. 

 Acoustical Analysis required. 

 Biological Report required.   

 Cultural Records Search required. 

 Traffic Impact Assessment required. 

 Vehicle Trip Generation Estimates required. 

 Covenant required.  

 Other:   

 

General Requirements from Zoning Ordinance that apply to the project when checked. 

 Meet all Noise, Odor, and Vibration Performance Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-2. 

 Make all required Property and Utility Improvements described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-3. 

 Meet all Outdoor Lighting Standards described in Zoning Ordinance Section 9-5B-4. 

  Landscape Plans required at Building Permit submittal. Landscape Plans will be checked for compliance with 
MWELO, including but not limited to the following conditions: 

• Plan shall include square footages of landscaped area shown, water use calculations, and the material to be utilized. 
• Water use classifications shall be based on WUCOLS IV. 
• All other landscaped areas shown as landscaped shall be landscaped. 
• Landscaping shall meet all other applicable requirements of Title 9, Article D1 of the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
 

 

 



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS   
 SITE PLAN NO: Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility. 
 LOCATION:   2.29-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Bottom-Line (Orlando Ramirez) Contractor 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Lemoore 19th Avenue Partners, LP (John Glikbarg) 
 

Community Development / Planning, Page 6 of 6 

 

Other Requirements 

 Additional comments:  
 
The amendment to the CUP is needed to formally acknowledge the revised site plan and to modify or remove 
conditions that no longer apply. 
 

 
  Steve Brandt               9/11/2023        
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Steve Brandt, AICP, City Planner              
Printed name 



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Modification of Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
  Tentative Parcel Map No. 2023-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility, 
 LOCATION:   2.37-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Ramirez Planning and Moua Enterprise 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Jay Virk, Bottom Line  
 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 1 of 3 

ENGINEERING – Multi-Family/Commercial/Industrial 
Recommended action: 

 Acceptable as submitted. See applicable comments below for permit application. 

 Revise per comments below. Resubmittal not required. See applicable comments below for permit application. 

 Resubmit with additional information. See comments below. 

 Redesign required. See comments below. 
===================================================================================== 

The following items are required to be shown on the Site Plan or provided with the Site Plan: 

 Show entire property boundary with dimensions. 

 Show all adjacent streets including existing and proposed improvements, such as curb, gutter, drive approaches, 
sidewalk, transit/bus stops, etc.:  Show sidewalk: 10 ft. wide, adjacent to curb on Bush Street;  Show 
locations of all drive approaches per City Standards;  Provide 80’ curb to curb width, 100’ wide RW on 
Bush Street; additional 4’ of RW dedication required along Bush Street frontage  

 Show existing on-site structures and improvements on the site, such as buildings, wells, septic tanks, fences, 
driveways, etc., and note if they are to remain, removed, relocated or demolished.   

 Show existing structures and improvements adjacent to the site.   

 Show all proposed on-site improvements including buildings with entry and loading access location, parking lot 
layout, landscape areas, pedestrian access/pathways, trash/refuse enclosure, mailbox/postal unit, etc. per City 
Standards and Building Code requirements. Include vehicle/truck path of travel for drive thru aisles, loading areas 
and trash/refuse enclosure. Also include fuel truck and delivery truck path of travel and turning movements. 

 Show location and proposed size of all City water and sanitary sewer services to serve the project per City 
Standards. City mains to be used for this project are located here: Water: 12” in 19th Ave; Sewer: 18”in 19th Ave. 
Trenching for connections to utilities in Bush St will not be allowed due to construction of pavement overlay in 
Summer of 2022. 

 Show proposed on-site fire hydrants per Fire Department requirements.   

 Show temporary fire and emergency access.   Provide all-weather fire and emergency access road. 

 Show proposed disposal of storm runoff:  On-site basin required per City Standards,  Surface drain to street, 
 Connect to City storm drain system: connect to existing 36” SD trunkline in Bush St for overflow from on-

site LID, bioswale or CASQA approved system. 

 Previous comments and requirements from Engineering on Major Site Plan Review 2022-01 apply. 

 See written markups on attached site plan.   

 Additional comments: ______________________________________________________________  
   
 

Subject to Site Plan Approval, the following are required with the permit application: 

 Submit on-site grading and improvement plans and off-site improvement plans detailing all proposed work. On-site 
and off-site improvement plans to be prepared and signed by registered civil engineer. Project architect may 
prepare and sign on-site improvement plans. 



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Modification of Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
  Tentative Parcel Map No. 2023-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility, 
 LOCATION:   2.37-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Ramirez Planning and Moua Enterprise 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Jay Virk, Bottom Line  
 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 2 of 3 

 City encroachment permit required which shall include an approved traffic control plan. 

 Caltrans encroachment permit required. 

 Caltrans comments required prior to approval of project. 

 Written comments required from ditch company.   

 All public streets within project limits and across project frontage shall be improved to their full width, 
subject to available right-of-way, in accordance with City policies, standards and specifications.  

 Dedicate 4’ of additional right-of-way along Bush St with Final Map for TPM 2023-01. If TPM 2023-01 is 
not processed to a recorded Final Parcel map, the right-of-way dedication required by grant deed with 
development of the property. A title report is required for verification of ownership. 

 Install street striping as required by the City Engineer. 

 Install sidewalk:  10’ wide, with 0’ wide parkway on Bush St; match existing on 19th Ave. 

 Show locations of all drive approaches and construct to City Standards. Use City Std C-8A for Bush St & 19th 
Ave with 41’ maximum throat width 

 Cluster mailbox supports required (1 for 2 residential units) or use postal unit.  
 Landscape and irrigation improvement plans to be submitted for the entire project.  Landscape plans will need to 

comply with the City of Lemoore’s street tree ordinance and the State MWELO requirements.   

 Potable water and fire protection water master plan for the entire development shall be submitted for approval 
prior to approval of any phase of the development.  The water system will need to be extended to the 
boundaries of the development where future connection and extension is anticipated.  The water system will 
need to be sized to serve any future developments that are anticipated to connect to the system. 

 Sanitary Sewer master plan for the entire development shall be submitted for approval prior to approval of 
any phase of the development.  The sewer system will need to be extended to the boundaries of the 
development where future connection and extension is anticipated.  The sewer system will need to be sized to 
serve any future developments that are anticipated to connect to the system.  

 Grading and drainage plan required.  If the project is phased, then a master plan is required for the entire 
project area that shall include pipe network sizing and grades and street grades. 

 Prepared by a registered civil engineer or project architect.   
 All elevations shall be based on the City’s benchmark network.   

Storm run-off from the project shall be handled as follows: 
  Directed to the City’s existing storm drainage system; Use LID, bioswale, or other CASQA approved 

measures to comply with MS4 prior to discharging into the City storm drain system. 
  Directed to a permanent on-site basin per City Standards 

 Directed to a temporary on-site basin which is required until a connection with adequate capacity is 
available to the City’s storm drainage system.  On-site basin shall be constructed in accordance with City 
Standards. 

 Protect Oak trees during construction. 

 Show adjacent property grade elevations on improvement plans. A retaining wall will be required for grade 
differences greater than 0.5 feet at the property line. 

 Relocate existing utility poles and/or facilities. 



SITE PLAN REVIEW COMMENTS SITE PLAN NO:   Modification of Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01 
  Tentative Parcel Map No. 2023-01 
 DESCRIPTION:   Fuel Station and Convenience Store w Alcohol and 

Tabaco Sales, Drive Through Carwash Facility, 
 LOCATION:   2.37-acres: SWC Bush Street and 19th Avenue 
 APN(S):   023-420-018 (includes cross access easement) 
 APPLICANT: Ramirez Planning and Moua Enterprise 

 PROPERTY OWNER:   Jay Virk, Bottom Line  
 
 

  Public Works / Engineering, Page 3 of 3 

 Underground all existing overhead utilities within the project limits. Existing overhead electrical lines 
over 50kV shall be exempt from undergrounding. 

 Provide R-value tests; 2 min on Bush St. and 1 min on-site  

 Traffic indexes per City standards:  5.5 min. for on-site drive aisles and 5.0 min. for on-site parking; use 8.0 
min on Bush St. 

 Subject to existing reimbursement agreement to reimburse prior developer. 

 Abandon existing wells per Code; a building permit is required. 

 Remove existing irrigation lines and dispose off-site. 

 Remove existing leach fields and septic tanks. 

 Fugitive dust will be controlled in accordance with the applicable rules of San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution 
Control District’s Regulation VIII. Copies of any required permits will be provided to the City of Lemoore. 

 The project it may be subject to the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District’s Rule 9510 Indirect 
Source Review per the rule’s applicability criteria. A copy of the approved AIA application will be provided 
to the City of Lemoore. 

 If the project meets the one acre of disturbance criteria of the State’s Storm Water Program, then coverage 
under General Permit Order 2009-0009-DWQ is required and a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
(SWPPP) is needed.  A copy of the approved permit will be provided to the City of Lemoore. 

 
Additional comments:     

1. Construct full Bush St frontage improvements from Acacia Ave to 19th Ave including curb return and any 
signal modifications with development of either or both parcels.  

2. Provide cross access easements or agreements with building permit applications.  
3. See Site Plan comments and plan markups from Engineering.  
4. Project shall employ LID measures, bioswales, underground storage or other CASQA approved methods 

for holding the initial runoff from the project site in accordance with the City’s ordinance and MS4 
permit. Project shall not discharge storm runoff directly to the street or City storm drain system.  

5. The City rehabilitated Bush St in the Summer of 2022, connections to utilities in Bush St will be not be 
allowed unless expressly authorized by the PW Director and City Engineer. If connections to utilities in 
Bush St are allowed, they shall be bored within the paved portion of the road. 

 
 
 
                   8-18-23         
Authorized signature              Date 
 
Jeff Cowart, PE   City Engineer        
Printed name
 



02-7402-74

Signal & St Light is to
be relocated. Also
see not D-03

Revise call-out.
Signal is to be
relocated.

Add improvement
note about
constructing new or
relocated signal

Show on plan



IS THIS PLANTER REQUIRED/ IF NOT 
SUGGEST THAT IT BE REMOVED FOR 
BETTER CIRCULATION.

IS THERE A MINIMUM WIDTH
FOR CROSS ACCESS THAT WAS NOTED
IN THE DAVITA OR DOLLAR GENERAL
CONDITIONS THAT WAS STIPULATED?

riverfra
Callout
GENERAL PLAN INDICATES PARKWAY SIDEWALK. DAVITA DEFERMENT INDICATED 11' WIDE MEANDERING SIDEWALK AND MEDIAN ALONG BUSH STREER??








	0 Agenda 10092023
	0 Virtual Attendance 10092023
	1 PC Minutes 09112023
	Minutes of the

	2a Extension Master Storage - MSPR 2021-06 PC Staff Report
	Lemoore Planning Commission
	To:
	Steve Brandt, City Planner
	From:
	October 2, 2023
	Date:
	Subject:

	2b Resolution No. 2023-15- Time Extension - Master Storage
	2c Aproval 9-13-21 documents combined
	Resolution No.  2021-16
	Conditions of Approval
	Item No. 8-1 - Master Storage - MSPR 2021-06 PC Staff Report
	Lemoore Planning Commission
	To:
	Steve Brandt, City Planner
	From:
	September 3, 2021
	Date:
	Subject:

	Item No. 8-3 - Master Storage - MSPR 2021-06 Comments Cover Memo
	711 W. Cinnamon Drive ● Lemoore, California 93245 ● (559) 924-6744 ext. 740
	To:
	Master Storage 365
	From:
	Steve Brandt, City Planner
	September 3, 2021
	Date:

	Item No. 8-3a - MSPR 2021-06 Planning Department Comments
	Item No. 8-4 1 Planning MSPR 2021-06 Cover Memo 09032021
	711 W. Cinnamon Drive ● Lemoore, California 93245 ● (559) 924-6744 ext. 740
	To:
	Master Storage 365
	From:
	Steve Brandt, City Planner
	September 3, 2021
	Date:

	Item No. 8-4 2 Planning MSPR 2021-06 Checklist
	Item No. 8-4 3 Building Comments 08242021
	Item No. 8-4 4 Public Works City Engineer Checklist 9-3-21
	Item No. 8-4 4a Public Works City Engineer Markups 09032021
	Item No. 8-4 5 Public Works  Checklist (Frank 8-23-21)
	Item No. 8-4 5a Public Works Full Set of Plans with Elevations (8-23-21 frank)
	Item No. 8-4 6 Fire Department Comments 08192021
	Item No. 8-4 7 PD Checklist 08092021
	Item No. 8-5 - MSPR 2021-06 NOE Backup documents
	Item 4-6 - b__Class 32 Exemption Findings for Master Storage
	Item 4-7 - c__Pre-Construction Report_2020.02.06 ver 2



	3a MSPR 2022-01 - Staff Report Final
	Lemoore Planning Commission
	To:
	Steve Brandt, City Planner
	From:
	October 2, 2023
	Date:
	Amendment to Conditional Use Permit No. 2022-01, Modification of Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-01, Amendment to Administrative Use Permit Nos. 2022-01 and 2022-02 and Tentative Parcel Map 2023-01: A request by Bottom Line Development (Orlando Ramirez, agent) to construct a convenience store with off-sale alcohol sales and drive-through food service, a fueling station, and a car wash facility with a washing tunnel and self-service vacuum area. The request also proposes dividing the site into two parcels. The site is located at 1224 W. Bush Street, on the southwest corner of Bush Street and 19th Avenue, in the City of Lemoore (APN 023-420-018). 
	Subject:

	3b CUP AUP SPR Resolution (redlines) (10.5.23) 4892-4505-5108 2
	3c Parcel Map Resolution (redlines) (10.5.23) 4858-2355-1364 2
	3d ST Lemoore__Site Plan__9-21-23
	3e REVISED ME-333 Tentative PM (9-18-2023)
	Sheets and Views
	1


	3f Elevations
	3g Urban Market Ops Statement 2023
	3h Car Wash Ops Statement 2023
	3i Binder1
	1a SPR Cover Memo MSPR 2022-01 Revised 09142023
	1b PC MSPR 2022-08 - Planning Checklist - 4th submittal
	2a Mod to Major SPR 2022-01 Checklist SPR - Engineering-8-18-23
	2b Surf Thru Lemoore_7-27-23 Site Plan-Eng comments
	3 Surf Thru Lemoore_7-27-23 Site Plan.pdf ( Franks Comments) 09062023

	3k Cat Exempt Filed 08122022



